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responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT, continued
To the Participating Governments of
EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the Annual Report 2019 but does not include the financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT, continued
To the Participating Governments of
EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT, continued
To the Participating Governments of
EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements, continued


Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Accountants
Bridgetown, Barbados
12 June 2019
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The notes on pages 65 to 172 are an integral part of these financial statements.


The notes on pages 11 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Statement of Profit or Loss
STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year ended 31 March
2019

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Notes
Interest income

26

Interest expense

26

Net interest income

2019
$

2018
$

107,402,279

73,214,304

(5,626,041)

(2,538,217)

101,776,238

70,676,087

Commission income – foreign transactions

9,905,668

10,127,117

Commission income – other transactions

3,904,157

2,878,988

(11,299,073)

(6,258,867)

Loss on disposal of investment securities

9

(512,288)

(Loss) gain on foreign exchange

445,252

4,499,834

6,085,848

108,274,536

83,954,425

32,908,913
8,419,588
470,448
5,575,880
28,397,879
1,547,786

30,301,359
7,926,068
1,270,631
5,080,073
30,049,518
-

Operating expenses

77,320,494

74,627,649

Operating profit

30,954,042

9,326,776

1,725,886

1,438,502

32,679,928

10,765,278

Other income

27

Operating income
Salaries, pensions and other staff benefits
Currency expenses
Amortisation
Depreciation
Administrative and general expenses
Net impairment losses on financial assets

Share of net profit of associates
Net profit for the year

28
15
16
30
29

14

The notes on pages 65 to 172 are an integral part of these financial statements.

60

| EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
OFMarch
PROFIT2019
OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the STATEMENT
year ended 31

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Net profit for the year

2019
$

2018
$

32,679,928

10,765,278

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will never be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Re-measurement losses on defined benefit pension plan

(4,354,000)
-

10,401,633

47,015,466

-

Revaluation adjustment (note 16)
Items that are or may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Net change in fair value of investment securities at FVOCI

(415,000)

-

(27,996,170)

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year

42,661,466

(18,009,537)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year

75,341,394

(7,244,259)

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets

The notes on pages 65 to 172 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The notes on pages 11 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2019

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Accumulated
Surplus
$

General
Reserve
$

Balance, 31 March 2018

-

120,456,442

Adjustment on adoption of IFRS 9

-

Restated balance at 1 April 2018

-

Net profit for the year
Re-measurement losses on defined
benefit pension plan (note 22)
Net change in fair value of investment
securities and money market
instruments at FVOCI
Total comprehensive income

Revaluation
Reserve:
Capital
Reserve Properties
$
$
6,537,928

92,507,945

-

-

119,757,742

6,537,928

92,507,945

32,679,928

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

32,679,928

(698,700)

-

Financial
Assets at
FVOCI
reserve
$
(45,288,213)

Export
SelfCredit
Insurance
Guarantee
Fund Reserve Fund
$
$

Pension
Reserve
$

1,808,877

11,952,615

-

-

1,808,877

11,952,615

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(4,354,000)

-

-

47,015,466

-

-

-

-

-

47,015,466

-

-

470,930
(44,817,283)

Total
$

26,948,000 214,923,594
-

(227,770)

26,948,000 214,695,824
32,679,928
(4,354,000)
47,015,466

(4,354,000) 75,341,394

(30,996,106)

30,996,106

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Allocation to pension reserve (note 21)

(979,000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

979,000

-

Allocation to self-insurance reserve
fund (note 21)

(704,822)

-

-

-

-

-

704,822

-

-

Transfer of revaluation gain on
disposal of property and equipment

-

5,175,845

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balance, 31 March 2019

-

155,929,693

6,537,928

2,198,183

1,808,877

12,657,437

Allocation to general reserve

(5,175,845)
87,332,100

The notes on pages 11 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The notes on pages 65 to 172 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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23,573,000 290,037,218

Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Statement of Changes in Equity…continued
For the year ended 31 March 2019 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY...continued
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019
Revaluation
Reserve:
Available-for-Sale
Securities
$

Export
SelfCredit
Insurance
Guarantee
Fund Reserve Fund
$
$

Accumulated
Surplus
$

General
Reserve
$

Capital
Reserve
$

Revaluation
Reserve:
Properties
$

-

111,106,309

6,537,928

82,106,312

(17,292,043)

1,808,877

10,765,278

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,401,633

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(27,996,170)

Total comprehensive loss

10,765,278

-

-

10,401,633

(27,996,170)

Allocation to general reserve

(9,350,133)

9,350,133

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Allocation to pension reserve (note
21)

(853,000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

853,000

-

Allocation to self- insurance
reserve fund (note 21)

(562,145)

-

-

-

-

-

562,145

-

-

-

120,456,442

6,537,928

92,507,945

(45,288,213)

1,808,877

11,952,615

26,948,000

214,923,594

Balance, 31 March 2017
Net profit for the year
Revaluation adjustment (note 16)
Re-measurement losses on defined
benefit pension plan (note 22)
Net change in fair value of
investment securities and money
market instruments

Balance, 31 March 2018

The notes on pages 65 to 172 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The notes on pages 11 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Pension
Reserve
$

Total
$

26,510,000

222,167,853

-

-

10,765,278

-

-

-

10,401,633

-

-

-

-

-

11,390,470

-

(415,000)
(415,000)

(415,000)
(27,996,170)
(7,244,259)

Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Statement of Cash Flows
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 March 2019

(Expressed in
Caribbean
dollars)
Expressed
inEastern
Eastern
Caribbean
Dollars

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Amortisation
Loss on disposal of investment securities
Share of profit of associates
Effect of changes in market value of money market instruments
Net pension cost during the year
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment
Net recoveries and write-offs on impaired receivables
Net impairment losses on financial assets
Interest income
Interest expense
Cash flows used in operations before changes in operating assets and
liabilities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Decrease in term deposits
Decrease in money market instruments
Decrease (increase) in participating governments’ securities
Increase in participating governments’ advances
Decrease in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses
Decrease (increase) in financial assets at FVTPL
Decrease in financial liabilities at FVTPL
Contributions to pension scheme
(Decrease) increase in demand and deposit liabilities - domestic and
foreign
Increase in IMF government general resource accounts

2018
$

32,679,928

10,765,278

5,575,880
470,448
11,299,073
(1,725,886)
(15,185)
1,242,000
1,289,744
(1,450,560)
1,547,786
(107,402,279)
5,626,041

5,080,073
1,270,631
6,258,867
(1,438,502)
99,950
1,353,000
(36,548)
(75,131)
(73,214,304)
2,538,217

(50,863,010)

(47,398,469)

1,176,469
25,681,397
22,278,352
(515,995)
3,294,426
561,158
(185,361)
(2,221,000)

2,293,965
10,353,379
(9,733,823)
(2,582,143)
3,959,132
(517,687)
(482,273)
(2,206,000)

(2,505,166)
35,939

Cash (used in) from operations before interest
Interest paid
Interest received

(3,262,791)
(5,255,289)
106,376,636

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of foreign investment securities
Purchase of foreign investment securities
Receipt of ordinary shares in SWIFT
Receipt of ordinary shares in ECSE
Dividends received from associates

2019
$

97,858,556
(5,900,906)
(2,409,593)
3,720,000
2,910,885,695
(2,502,549,823)
(78,205)
(274,190)
501,090

123,783,012
29,481
77,498,574
(2,236,637)
70,543,915
145,805,852
(4,283,741)
(1,980,970)
57,240
3,797,434,225
(4,048,130,233)
501,090

Net cash from (used in) investing activities

403,894,068

(256,402,389)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

501,752,624

(110,596,537)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

1,171,960,866

1,282,557,403

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year (note 25)

1,673,713,490

1,171,960,866

The notes
11 65
to 118
are an
part ofpart
theseoffinancial
statements.
The
notesononpages
pages
to 172
areintegral
an integral
these financial
statements.
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Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2019
(Expressed
Expressed in
in Eastern
EasternCaribbean
Caribbeandollars)
Dollars
1.

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Incorporation and principal activity
The Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (“ECCB” or the “Bank”) was established under the Eastern
Caribbean Central Bank Agreement Act 1983 (the “Act”) on July 5, 1983 with the ratification of the Act
by Governments participating in the Eastern Caribbean Currency Authority (the “Authority”). In
accordance with Article 54(2) of the Act, the ECCB was formally established on October 1, 1983 on
which date the Authority ceased to exist. Effective from that date, all the assets and liabilities of the
Authority, together with all its rights and obligations that are consistent with the provisions of the Act
were deemed to have been transferred to and vested in the Bank.
The principal activity of the ECCB is to issue, manage and safeguard the international value of the Eastern
Caribbean currency, to regulate the availability of money and credit, to promote and maintain monetary
stability and a sound financial structure, and to promote economic development in the territories of the
Participating Governments.
The Participating Governments include Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, Commonwealth of Dominica,
Grenada, Montserrat, St. Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia and St. Vincent and the Grenadines, which also
compose the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union (“ECCU”).
The primary office of the ECCB is at Bird Rock, Basseterre, St Kitts and its agency offices are located in
the other seven member territories.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
a)

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Eastern
Caribbean Central Bank Agreement Act 1983 and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the
following:





Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income;
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss;
Available-for-sale financial assets (applicable prior to 1 April 2018);
Land and buildings measured at fair value.

On the statement of financial position, domestic assets and liabilities are those which are located
within the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union, regional assets and liabilities are those which are
located within other Caribbean territories and foreign assets and liabilities are those which are located
outside of the Caribbean.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 12 June 2019.
Neither the Bank’s member governments nor others have the power to amend the financial statements
after issue.
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Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTES
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March
2019
(Expressed
Expressed in
in Eastern
EasternCaribbean
Caribbeandollars)
Dollars
2.

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
a)

Basis of preparation....continued
(i) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are consistent with
those followed in the preparation of the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2018, except for the adoption of new Standards and interpretations described below.
Effective 1 April 2018, the Bank applied for the first time certain Standards and Amendments, which
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Bank has not early adopted
any other Standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. The
nature and the impact of each new Standard or amendment are described below:
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’
In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, the Standard that replaced IAS 39 for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted.
The Bank has adopted the requirements of IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ effective 1 April 2018.
The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in our accounting policies for recognition,
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities and impairment of financial assets.
The classification and measurement, and impairment requirements, are applied retrospectively by
adjusting the opening equity at the date of initial application, 1 April 2018. As permitted by IFRS 9,
the Bank has not restated comparatives for 2018 for financial instruments in the scope of IFRS 9.
Differences and adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities from the
adoption of IFRS 9 at the date of initial application have been recognised directly in general reserve
as of 1 April 2018 and are disclosed in Note 31.
Changes to classification and measurement of financial instruments
IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects the
business model in which assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics.
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL). IFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except for equity instruments and derivatives, to be
assessed based on a combination of the entity’s business model for managing the assets and the
instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics. The Standard eliminates the previous IAS 39
categories of held-to-maturity, available-for-sale and loans and receivables.
IFRS 9 will also allow entities to continue to irrevocably designate instruments that qualify for
amortised cost or fair value through OCI instruments as FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency. Equity instruments that are not
held for trading may be irrevocably designated as FVOCI, with no subsequent reclassification of
gains or losses to the statement of profit or loss.
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Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2019
(Expressed
dollars)
Expressed in
in Eastern
EasternCaribbean
Caribbean
Dollars
2.

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
a)

Basis of preparation....continued
(i) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures....continued
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’…continued
Changes to classification and measurement of financial instruments….continued
The Bank’s classification of its financial assets and liabilities is explained in Note 8. The quantitative
impact of applying IFRS 9 as at 1 April 2018, is disclosed in the transition disclosures in Note 31.
Changes to impairment of financial assets
The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Bank’s accounting for impairment of
financial assets by replacing the “incurred loss” model under IAS 39 with a forward looking
“expected credit loss” (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the Bank to record an allowance for ECLs
for financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI. The allowance is based on the ECLs
associated with the probability of default in the next twelve months unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination.
Details of the Bank’s impairment modelling are disclosed below. The quantitative impact of
applying IFRS 9 as at 1 April 2018 is disclosed in Note 31.
Transition to IFRS 9
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied
retrospectively, except as described below:


Comparative periods have not been restated. Differences in carrying amounts of
financial assets resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in reserves as at
1 April 2018. As such, the information presented for 2018 does not reflect the
requirements of IFRS 9 and therefore is not comparable to the information presented
for 2019 under IFRS 9.



The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances
that existed at the date of initial application, 1 April 2018:

— The determination of business model within which a financial asset is held;
— The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets
and liabilities as measured at FVTPL; and

— The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading
at FVOCI.



If a debt security had a low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, the
Bank assumes that the credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since its
initial recognition.
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Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
a)

Basis of preparation....continued
(i) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures....continued
IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’
On 1 April 2018, the Bank adopted IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). IFRS 15 defines principles for
recognising revenue and is applicable to all contracts with customers. IFRS 15 applies to nearly all
contracts with customers; the main exceptions are leases, financial instruments and insurance
contracts. However, interest and fee income integral to financial instruments and leases continues to
fall outside the scope of IFRS 15 and is guided by the other applicable Standards (such as IFRS 9
Financial Instruments and IFRS 16 Leases). Revenue under IFRS 15 must be recognised as goods
and services are transferred, to the extent that the transferor anticipates entitlement to goods and
services. The Standard also specifies a comprehensive set of disclosure requirements regarding the
nature, extent and timing as well as any uncertainty of revenue and corresponding cash flows with
customers.
The adoption of IFRS 15 did not impact the timing or amount of fee and commission income from
contracts with customers and the related assets and liabilities recognised by the Bank. Accordingly,
the impact on the comparative information is limited to new disclosure requirements.
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
IFRIC Interpretation 22 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018. The interpretation clarifies how to determine the date of transaction for the exchange rate to
be used on initial recognition of a related asset, expense or income where an entity pays or receives
consideration in advance for foreign currency-denominated contracts.
For a single payment or receipt, the date of the transaction should be the date on which the entity
initially recognises the non-monetary asset or liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts for one item, a date of transaction should be determined as
above for each payment or receipt.
Entities can choose to apply the interpretation:

68



retrospectively for each period presented;



prospectively to items in scope that are initially recognised on or after the beginning
of the reporting period in which the interpretation is first applied; or



prospectively from the beginning of a prior reporting period presented as comparative
information.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
a)

Basis of preparation ....continued
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published Standards that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new Standards, interpretations and
amendments to existing Standards have been issued but are not yet effective. The Bank has not early
adopted any of these in preparing these financial statements. These Standards, interpretations and
amendments to existing Standards will be adopted when they become effective.
IFRS 16 ‘Leases’
IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 with
earlier application permitted if IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, is also applied).
This Standard replaces the current guidance in IAS 17 and is a far reaching change in accounting by
lessees in particular. The new Standard does not significantly change the accounting for leases for
lessors.
Under IAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction between a finance lease (on-balance sheet)
and an operating lease (off-balance sheet). IFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognise a lease liability
reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right-of-use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts.
The IASB has included an optional exemption for certain short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets; however, this exemption can only be applied by lessees. For lessors, the accounting stays
almost the same. However, as the IASB has updated the guidance on the definition of a lease (as well
as the guidance on the combination and separation of contracts), lessors will also be affected by the
new Standard. At the very least, the new accounting model for lessees is expected to impact
negotiations between lessors and lessees. Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. The adoption of this Standard will not have a significant impact on the Bank.
Amendments to IAS 19 - Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
“Amendments to IAS 19” (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019). The amendments to IAS 19 clarify the accounting for defined benefit plan amendments,
curtailments and settlements. The amendments confirm that entities must:





calculate the current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after
a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement by using the updated assumptions from the date of
the change.
any reduction in a surplus should be recognised immediately in profit or loss either as part of
past service cost, or as a gain or loss on settlement. In other words, a reduction in a surplus must
be recognised in profit or loss even if that surplus was not previously recognised because of the
impact of the asset ceiling.
separately recognise any changes in the asset ceiling through other comprehensive income.
EASTERN15
CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019 | 69

Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March
2019TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars
2.

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
b)

Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Bank has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanied by a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost.
The Bank’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the investment.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Bank’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Bank does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
The Bank determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Bank calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of profit (loss) of associates’ in the statement of profit
or loss.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Bank and its associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Bank’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. For the preparation of the financial
statements, common accounting policies for similar transactions and other events in similar
circumstances are used.
Dilution gains and losses in associates are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

c) Fair value measurement
The Bank measures financial instruments, such as investment securities, certain money market
instruments and derivatives at fair value at each financial reporting date.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date (an exit price). The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either:
 in the principal market for the asset or liability; or
 in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability.
When measuring fair value, an entity uses the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or the liability under current market conditions, including assumptions about risk.
70
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 6XPPDU\RIVLJQLILFDQWDFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHV....continued

F  )DLUYDOXHPHDVXUHPHQW....continued
$V D UHVXOW DQ HQWLW\¶V LQWHQWLRQ WR KROG DQ DVVHW RU WR VHWWOH RU RWKHUZLVH IXOILO D OLDELOLW\ LV QRW
UHOHYDQWZKHQPHDVXULQJIDLUYDOXH

,)56UHTXLUHVWKDWWKHIDLUYDOXHRIDOLDELOLW\RUHTXLW\LQVWUXPHQWRIWKHHQWLW\EHGHWHUPLQHG
XQGHUWKHDVVXPSWLRQWKDWWKHLQVWUXPHQWZRXOGEHWUDQVIHUUHGRQWKHPHDVXUHPHQWGDWHEXWZRXOG
UHPDLQRXWVWDQGLQJ$FFRUGLQJO\WKHIDLUYDOXHRIDOLDELOLW\PXVWWDNHDFFRXQWRIQRQSHUIRUPDQFH
ULVNLQFOXGLQJWKHHQWLW\¶VRZQFUHGLWULVN

7KH%DQNXVHVYDOXDWLRQWHFKQLTXHVWKDWDUHDSSURSULDWHLQWKHFLUFXPVWDQFHVDQGIRUZKLFKVXIILFLHQW
GDWD DUH DYDLODEOH WR PHDVXUH IDLU YDOXH PD[LPLVLQJ WKH XVH RI UHOHYDQW REVHUYDEOH LQSXWV DQG
PLQLPLVLQJWKHXVHRIXQREVHUYDEOHLQSXWV

:KHQRQHLVDYDLODEOHWKH%DQNPHDVXUHVWKHIDLUYDOXHRIDQLQVWUXPHQWXVLQJWKHTXRWHGSULFHLQ
DQDFWLYHPDUNHWIRUWKDWLQVWUXPHQW$PDUNHWLVUHJDUGHGDVµDFWLYH¶LIWUDQVDFWLRQVIRUWKHDVVHWRU
OLDELOLW\ WDNH SODFH ZLWK VXIILFLHQW IUHTXHQF\ DQG YROXPH WR SURYLGH SULFLQJ LQIRUPDWLRQ RQ DQ
RQJRLQJEDVLV

,IWKHUHLVQRTXRWHGSULFHLQDQDFWLYHPDUNHWWKH%DQNXVHVYDOXDWLRQWHFKQLTXHVWKDWPD[LPLVHWKH
XVHRIUHOHYDQWREVHUYDEOHLQSXWVDQGPLQLPLVHWKHXVHRIXQREVHUYDEOHLQSXWV7KHFKRVHQYDOXDWLRQ
WHFKQLTXHLQFRUSRUDWHVDOORIWKHIDFWRUVWKDWPDUNHWSDUWLFLSDQWVZRXOGWDNHLQWRDFFRXQWLQSULFLQJ
DWUDQVDFWLRQ

$OODVVHWVDQGOLDELOLWLHVIRUZKLFKIDLUYDOXHLVPHDVXUHGRUGLVFORVHGLQWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDUH
FDWHJRULVHGZLWKLQWKHIDLUYDOXHKLHUDUFK\GHVFULEHGLQQRWH J 





G  8VHRIMXGJPHQWVDQGHVWLPDWHV

,Q SUHSDULQJ WKHVH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV PDQDJHPHQW KDV PDGH MXGJHPHQWV HVWLPDWHV DQG
DVVXPSWLRQVWKDWDIIHFWWKHDSSOLFDWLRQRIWKH%DQN¶VDFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHVDQGWKHUHSRUWHGDPRXQWV
RIDVVHWVOLDELOLWLHVLQFRPHDQGH[SHQVHV$FWXDOUHVXOWVPD\GLIIHUIURPWKHVHHVWLPDWHV7KHDUHDV
LQYROYLQJDKLJKHUGHJUHHRIMXGJHPHQWRUFRPSOH[LW\RUDUHDVZKHUHDVVXPSWLRQVDQGHVWLPDWHV
DUHVLJQLILFDQWWRWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDUHGLVFORVHGLQQRWH

(VWLPDWHVDQGXQGHUO\LQJDVVXPSWLRQVDUHUHYLHZHGRQDQRQJRLQJEDVLV5HYLVLRQVWRHVWLPDWHVDUH
UHFRJQLVHGSURVSHFWLYHO\
H  )RUHLJQFXUUHQF\WUDQVODWLRQ

)XQFWLRQDODQGSUHVHQWDWLRQFXUUHQF\

,WHPVLQFOXGHGLQWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDUHPHDVXUHGXVLQJWKHFXUUHQF\RIWKHSULPDU\HFRQRPLF
HQYLURQPHQWLQZKLFKWKH(&&%RSHUDWHV WKH³IXQFWLRQDOFXUUHQF\´ 7KHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDUH
SUHVHQWHGLQ(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQGROODUVZKLFKLVWKH(&&%¶VIXQFWLRQDODQGSUHVHQWDWLRQFXUUHQF\
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Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
e)

Foreign currency translation....continued
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Changes in fair value of monetary securities
denominated in foreign currency are analysed between translation differences resulting from
changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the
security.
Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and
other changes in the carrying amount, except impairment, are recognised in other comprehensive
income or loss.
All foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in the statement of profit or loss are presented net.
Foreign exchange gains and losses on other comprehensive income or loss items are presented in
other comprehensive income or loss.

f)

Comparative information
The Bank’s financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the preceding period
for all amounts reported in the current period. Except when an IFRS permits or requires otherwise,
comparative information shall be disclosed in respect of the preceding period for all amounts
reported in the financial statements. Comparative information has been amended where necessary to
ensure consistency with the current period.
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Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018
(i) Initial Measurement of financial assets and liabilities
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual
terms and the business model for managing the instruments. Financial instruments are initially
measured at their fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue.
(ii) Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities
Effective 1 April 2018, the Bank classifies its financial assets based on the Bank’s business
model for managing the assets and the assets’ contractual cash flow characteristics. The three
classification and measurement categories under IFRS 9 are as follows:
 Amortised cost;
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and
 Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and
is not designated as at FVTPL:
 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and
 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount
outstanding.
A debt financial asset is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as at FVTPL:
 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and


the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are SPPI on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on
an investment-by-investment basis. All other equity investments are classified as measured at
FVTPL.
In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise
arise.
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Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities....continued
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018....continued
Prior to 1 April 2018, the Bank classified its financial assets as loans and receivables (amortised
cost), held for trading (fair value through profit or loss), available-for-sale (fair value through OCI)
or held-to-maturity (amortised cost).
Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost and FVTPL.
(iii) Business model assessment
Business model assessment entails a determination of the way financial assets are managed in
order to generate cash flows. There are three business models available under IFRS 9:


Hold to collect: it is intended to hold the asset to maturity to earn interest, collecting
repayments of principal and interest form the counterparty.



Hold to collect and sell: this model is similar to the hold to collect model, except that
the entity elects to sell some or all of the assets before maturity as circumstances change
or to hold the assets for liquidity purposes.



Other: all those models that do not meet the ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to collect and sell’
qualifying criteria.

The assessment of business model requires judgement based on facts and circumstances at the
date of initial application. The business model is not assessed on an instrument by instrument
basis, but at a higher level of aggregated portfolios per instrument type and is based on
observable factors.
The Bank determines its business model at the portfolio level (foreign reserves and domestic
assets portfolios) as this best reflects the way the Bank manages its financial assets to achieve
its business objective. The Bank’s business model assessment considers the following
qualitative and observable factors:
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the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice. In particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of
the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or
realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;
how the performance of the portfolios are evaluated and reported to the Bank’s
management;
the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and its strategy for how those risks are managed;
how asset managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is
based on the fair value of the asset managed or the contractual cash flows collected);
and
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Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities....continued
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018....continued
(iii) Business model assessment....continued


the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales
and its expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales
activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the
Bank’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows
are realised.

(iv) Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
The second criteria in the classification process is the Bank’s assessment of the contractual terms
of financial assets to determine whether they meet the solely payments of principal and interest
(SPPI) test. Contractual cash flows that represent solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding are consistent with basic lending arrangements.
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and the
credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time.
It can also include consideration for other basic lending risks (e.g. liquidity risk) and costs (e.g.
administrative costs) associated with holding the financial asset for a particular period of time,
and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement.
If a financial asset is held in either a ‘Hold to Collect’ or a ‘Hold to Collect and Sell’ business
model, then assessment to determine whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding at initial recognition is required to
determine the classification. The SPPI test is performed on an individual instrument basis.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Bank considers whether the
contractual terms of the financial asset contain a term that could change the timing or amount of
contractual cash flows arising over the life of the instrument which could affect whether the
instrument is considered to meet the SPPI test. If the SPPI test is failed, such financial assets are
measured at FVTPL with interest earned recognised in other interest income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities....continued
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018....continued
(v) Debt instruments measured at amortised cost
Debt instruments are measured at amortised cost if they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest. After initial measurement, debt instruments in this
category are carried at amortised cost. Interest income on these instruments is recognised in
interest income using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition, transaction costs and fees that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate.
Impairment on debt instruments measured at amortised cost is calculated using the expected
credit loss approach. Loans and debt securities measured at amortised cost are presented net of
the allowance for credit losses (ACL) in the statement of financial position.
(vi) Debt instruments measured at FVOCI
Effective 1 April 2018, the Bank measures debt investment securities at FVOCI when both of
the following categories are met:
 The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and


The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test.

These instruments comprise assets that had previously been classified as debt available-for-sale
investment securities under IAS 39.
FVOCI debt investment securities are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising due to changes in fair value recognised in OCI. Interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. On de-recognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised
in OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit or loss.
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Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities....continued
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018....continued
(vii) Equity instruments
Equity instruments are classified into one of the following measurement categories:
 Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); or


Designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

Equity instruments measured at Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Equity instruments are measured at FVTPL, unless an election is made to designate them at
FVOCI upon purchase, with transaction costs recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Subsequent to initial recognition the changes in fair value are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Equity instruments at FVTPL are primarily assets held for trading.
Equity instruments measured at FVOCI (designated)
At initial recognition, there is an irrevocable option for the Bank to classify non-trading equity
instruments at FVOCI. This election is used for certain equity investments held for strategic or
longer term investment purposes. This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis
and is not available for equity instruments that are held for trading purposes. Gains and losses
on these instruments including when derecognised/sold are recorded in OCI and are not
subsequently reclassified to the statement of profit or loss. As such, there is no specific
impairment requirement. Dividends received are recorded in profit or loss. Any transaction costs
incurred upon purchase of the security are added to the cost basis of the security and are not
reclassified to profit or loss on sale of the security.
At the date of initial application of IFRS 9, the Bank made an irrevocable election to classify its
equity instruments at FVOCI when they are not held for trading as these investments are
expected to be held for the long-term and for strategic purposes. Such classification is
determined on an instrument by instrument basis. Gains and losses on these equity instruments
are never recycled to the Statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss.
Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.
(viii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Groups of financial assets for which the business model is other than held to collect and held to
collect and sell are measured at FVTPL from the date of initial application of IFRS 9.
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Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities....continued
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018....continued

(ix) Impairment of financial assets
The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Bank’s accounting for impairment losses on
financial assets by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with the forward-looking three-stage
expected credit loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the Bank to record ECLs on all financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI.
Effective 1 April 2018, the Bank conducted ECL assessment for the following categories of financial
assets:
 Financial assets measured at amortised cost; and


Financial assets measured at FVOCI.

Equity investment securities are not subject to impairment testing under IFRS 9.
The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECL on the following:
 debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date;
and
 other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not
increased significantly since their initial recognition.
The Bank considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is
equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.
Expected credit loss impairment model
IFRS 9 introduces a three-stage approach to impairment of financial assets. The ECL allowance is
based on credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss),
unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the
allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss.
The Bank’s policies for determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk are set out
in Note 3. The 12-month ECL is the portion of lifetime ECL that represent the ECLs that result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date. Both lifetime and 12-month expected credit losses are calculated on either an individual basis
or a collective basis, depending on the size and nature of the underlying portfolio of financial
instruments.
The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment of whether a financial instrument’s credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, at the end of each reporting period. This is
undertaken by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the
financial instrument.
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Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities....continued
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018....continued

(ix) Impairment of financial assets....continued
Expected credit loss impairment model....continued
Based on the above process, the Bank classifies its financial assets into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3,
as described below:
Stage 1: 12 months ECL
The Bank assesses ECLs on financial assets where there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition and that were not credit impaired upon origination. When financial assets
are first recognised and continue to perform in accordance with the contractual terms and conditions
at initial recognition, the Bank recognises a loss allowance based on 12 months ECLs. This represents
the portion of lifetime expected credit losses from default events that are expected within 12 months
of the reporting date.
Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired
The Bank collectively assesses ECLs on exposures where there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition but are not credit impaired. For these exposures, the Bank
recognises as a collective provision a lifetime ECL (i.e. reflecting the remaining lifetime of the
financial asset).
Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – credit impaired
The Bank identifies, both collectively and individually, ECLs on those exposures that are assessed
as credit impaired based on whether one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred. For exposures that have become credit
impaired, a lifetime ECL is recognised and interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost (net of provision) rather than the gross carrying amount. If the asset
is no longer credit impaired, then the calculation of the interest income reverts to the gross basis.
Financial instruments within the scope of the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are classified into
one of the above three stages. Unless purchased or originated credit impaired, newly originated assets
are classified as Stage 1 and remain in that stage unless there is considered to have been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, at which point the asset is reclassified to Stage 2.
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6XPPDU\RIVLJQLILFDQWDFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHV....continued

J  )LQDQFLDODVVHWVDQGILQDQFLDOOLDELOLWLHV....continued

3ROLF\DSSOLFDEOHIURP$SULO....continued

(ix) Impairment of financial assets....continued
0HDVXUHPHQWRIH[SHFWHGFUHGLWORVVHV (&/ 

7KH%DQNGHULYHV(&/VIURPSUREDELOLW\ZHLJKWHGHVWLPDWHVRIH[SHFWHGORVVDQGDUHPHDVXUHGDV
IROORZV

x )LQDQFLDODVVHWVWKDWDUHQRWFUHGLWLPSDLUHGDWWKHUHSRUWLQJGDWHDVWKHSUHVHQWYDOXHRIDOOFDVK
VKRUWIDOOVRYHUWKHH[SHFWHGOLIHRIWKHILQDQFLDODVVHWGLVFRXQWHGE\WKHHIIHFWLYHLQWHUHVWUDWH
7KHFDVKVKRUWIDOOLVWKHGLIIHUHQFHEHWZHHQWKHFDVKIORZVGXHWRWKH%DQNLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWK
WKHFRQWUDFWDQGWKHFDVKIORZVWKDWWKH%DQNH[SHFWVWRUHFHLYH

x )LQDQFLDODVVHWVWKDWDUHFUHGLWLPSDLUHGDWWKHUHSRUWLQJGDWHDVWKHGLIIHUHQFHEHWZHHQWKHJURVV
FDUU\LQJDPRXQWDQGWKHSUHVHQWYDOXHRIHVWLPDWHGIXWXUHFDVKIORZVGLVFRXQWHGE\WKHHIIHFWLYH
LQWHUHVWUDWH

7KHPHFKDQLFVRIWKH(&/FDOFXODWLRQVDUHRXWOLQHGEHORZDQGWKHNH\HOHPHQWVDUHDVIROORZV

3'±7KH3UREDELOLW\RI'HIDXOW 3' LVDQHVWLPDWHRIWKHOLNHOLKRRGRIGHIDXOWRYHUDJLYHQSHULRG
RIWLPH$GHIDXOWPD\RQO\KDSSHQDWDFHUWDLQWLPHRYHUWKHDVVHVVHGSHULRGLIWKHIDFLOLW\
KDVQRWEHHQSUHYLRXVO\GHUHFRJQLVHGDQGLVVWLOOLQWKHSRUWIROLR7KHFRQFHSWRI3'VLVIXUWKHU
H[SODLQHGLQ1RWH

($'±7KH([SRVXUHDW'HIDXOW ($' LVDQHVWLPDWHRIWKHH[SRVXUHDWDIXWXUHGHIDXOWGDWHWDNLQJ
LQWRDFFRXQWH[SHFWHGFKDQJHVLQWKHH[SRVXUHDIWHUWKHUHSRUWLQJGDWHLQFOXGLQJUHSD\PHQWV
RISULQFLSDODQGLQWHUHVWZKHWKHUVFKHGXOHGE\FRQWUDFWRURWKHUZLVHH[SHFWHGGUDZGRZQV
RQFRPPLWWHGIDFLOLWLHVDQGDFFUXHGLQWHUHVWIURPPLVVHGSD\PHQWV

/*'±7KH/RVV*LYHQ'HIDXOW /*' LVDQHVWLPDWHRIWKHORVVDULVLQJLQWKHFDVHZKHUHDGHIDXOW
RFFXUVDWDJLYHQWLPH,WLVEDVHGRQWKHGLIIHUHQFHEHWZHHQWKHFRQWUDFWXDOFDVKIORZVGXH
DQGWKRVHWKDWWKHOHQGHUZRXOGH[SHFWWRUHFHLYHLQFOXGLQJIURPWKHUHDOLVDWLRQRIDQ\
FROODWHUDO,WLVXVXDOO\H[SUHVVHGDVDSHUFHQWDJHRIWKH($'

:KHQ HVWLPDWLQJ WKH (&/V WKH %DQN FRQVLGHUV DPRQJ RWKHU IDFWRUV WKH ULVN UDWLQJ FDWHJRU\ DQG
DJLQJRIWKHILQDQFLDODVVHW(DFKRIWKHVHLVDVVRFLDWHGZLWKGLIIHUHQW3'V($'VDQG/*'V
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6XPPDU\RIVLJQLILFDQWDFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHV....continued

J  )LQDQFLDODVVHWVDQGILQDQFLDOOLDELOLWLHV....continued

3ROLF\DSSOLFDEOHIURP$SULO....continued

(ix) Impairment of financial assets....continued
0HDVXUHPHQWRIH[SHFWHGFUHGLWORVVHV (&/ ....continued 

7KHPHFKDQLFVRIWKH(&/PHWKRGDUHVXPPDULVHGEHORZ

6WDJH
7KHPRQWKV(&/LVFDOFXODWHGDVWKHSRUWLRQRIWKHOLIHWLPHH[SHFWHGFUHGLWORVVHVWKDWUHSUHVHQW
WKH(&/VWKDWUHVXOWIURPGHIDXOWHYHQWVRQDILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWWKDWDUHSRVVLEOHZLWKLQWKH
PRQWKVDIWHUWKHUHSRUWLQJGDWH7KH%DQNFDOFXODWHVWKHPRQWKV(&/DOORZDQFHEDVHGRQWKH
H[SHFWDWLRQRIDGHIDXOWRFFXUULQJLQWKH  PRQWKV IROORZLQJ WKHUHSRUWLQJGDWH 7KHVH H[SHFWHG
PRQWKGHIDXOWSUREDELOLWLHVDUHDSSOLHGWRDIRUHFDVW($'DQGPXOWLSOLHGE\WKHH[SHFWHG/*'

6WDJH
:KHQDILQDQFLDODVVHWKDVVKRZQDVLJQLILFDQW LQFUHDVH LQ FUHGLWULVN VLQFH RULJLQDWLRQ WKH%DQN
UHFRUGV DQ DOORZDQFH IRU WKH OLIHWLPH H[SHFWHG FUHGLW ORVVHV 7KH PHFKDQLFV DUH VLPLODU WR WKRVH
H[SODLQHGDERYHEXW3'VDQG/*'VDUHHVWLPDWHGRYHUWKHOLIHWLPHRIWKHLQVWUXPHQW7KH/*'VDUH
GHULYHG DV H[SODLQHG XQGHU 6WDJH  IRU ORDQV DQG XVLQJ *OREDO &UHGLW /RVV WDEOHV IRU WUDGHG
LQYHVWPHQWVDQGPRGLILHGZLWKPDQDJHPHQWRYHUOD\VZKHQQRWWUDGHG
6WDJH
)RU ILQDQFLDO DVVHWV FRQVLGHUHG FUHGLWLPSDLUHG WKH %DQN UHFRJQLVHV WKH OLIHWLPH H[SHFWHG FUHGLW
ORVVHVIRUWKHVHILQDQFLDODVVHWV7KHPHWKRGLVVLPLODUWRWKDWIRU6WDJHDVVHWVZLWKWKH3'VHWDW
,QPRVWLQVWDQFHV/*'VDUHGHWHUPLQHGRQDQLQGLYLGXDOORDQDGYDQFHRULQYHVWPHQWEDVLV
LQFOXGLQJGLVFRXQWLQJWKHH[SHFWHGFDVKIORZVDWWKHRULJLQDO(,56WDJH/*'VDUHJURXSHGE\
VLPLODUW\SHVWRSURYLGHSHUFHQWDJHDYHUDJHVWREHDSSOLHGIRU6WDJHDQG6WDJHORDQV

,QOLPLWHGFLUFXPVWDQFHVZLWKLQWKH%DQNZKHUHSRUWIROLRVZHUHVPDOODQGWKHSURGXFWVKRPRJHQRXV
ZLWKPLQLPDOKLVWRU\RIGHIDXOWVDVLPSOLILHG(&/DSSURDFKZDVDSSOLHGDQGVWDJHGEDVHGRQWKH
VRYHUHLJQSUR[\UDWLQJ

)LQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWVZLWKLQWKHVFRSHRIWKHLPSDLUPHQWUHTXLUHPHQWVRI,)56DUHFODVVLILHGLQWR
RQHRIWKHDERYHWKUHHVWDJHV8QOHVVSXUFKDVHGRURULJLQDWHGFUHGLWLPSDLUHGQHZO\RULJLQDWHGDVVHWV
DUHFODVVLILHGDV6WDJHDQGUHPDLQLQWKDWVWDJHXQOHVVWKHUHLVFRQVLGHUHGWRKDYHEHHQDVLJQLILFDQW
LQFUHDVHLQFUHGLWULVNVLQFHLQLWLDOUHFRJQLWLRQDWZKLFKSRLQWWKHDVVHWLVUHFODVVLILHGWR6WDJH

3XUFKDVHG RU RULJLQDWHG FUHGLWLPSDLUHG 32&,  DVVHWV DUH )LQDQFLDO ,QVWUXPHQWV WKDW DUH FUHGLW
LPSDLUHGRQLQLWLDOUHFRJQLWLRQ32&,DVVHWV DUHUHFRUGHGDWIDLUYDOXHDWRULJLQDOUHFRJQLWLRQDQG
LQWHUHVWLQFRPHLVVXEVHTXHQWO\UHFRJQLVHGEDVHGRQDFUHGLWDGMXVWHGHIIHFWLYHLQWHUHVWUDWH([SHFWHG
FUHGLWORVVHVDUHUHFRJQLVHGWRWKHH[WHQWWKDWWKHUHLVDVXEVHTXHQWFKDQJHZKHUH(&/VDUHFDOFXODWHG
EDVHGRQOLIHWLPHH[SHFWHGFUHGLWORVV2QFHWKH)LQDQFLDO$VVHWLVUHFRJQLVHGDV32&,LWUHWDLQVWKLV
VWDWXVXQWLOGHUHFRJQLVHG
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities....continued
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018....continued

(ix) Impairment of financial assets....continued
Measurement of expected credit losses (ECL) ....continued
Macroeconomic factors
The Standard also requires incorporation of macroeconomic factors in models for ECLs. In its
models, the Bank utilises an automated solution which incorporates an assessment of a broad range
of forward-looking economic information as possible inputs, such as: GDP growth, unemployment
rates and interest rates. The results of the assessment however failed to reveal meaningful
relationships between the Bank’s historical loss and the economic inputs and as such economic inputs
were not utilised in the models used for calculating ECLs.
The Standard recognises that the inputs and models used for calculating expected credit losses may
not always capture all characteristics of the market at the date of the financial statements. To reflect
this, qualitative adjustments or overlays may be made as temporary adjustments using expert credit
judgment. The Bank therefore in an effort to make adjustments for management overlays, adjusted
the stage two loans for the likelihood of migration to stage three and the severity or the extent of the
provisions required when these loans migrate to stage three.
Incorporation of forward looking information
IFRS 9 requires the incorporation of forward looking information in the estimation of expected credit
losses for each stage and the assessment of significant increases in credit risk. It considers
information about past events and current conditions as well as reasonable and supportable forecasts
of future events and economic conditions. The estimation and application of forward-looking
information requires significant judgement.
Definition of default
The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default as a result of one or more loss events that
occurred after the date of initial recognition of the instrument and the loss event has a negative impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the instrument that can be reliably estimated. This includes
events that indicate:
 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
 default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
 high probability of the borrower entering a phase of bankruptcy or a financial reorganization;
 measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the loan or the underlying assets
that secure the loan;
 The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not consider
otherwise.
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 6XPPDU\RIVLJQLILFDQWDFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHV....continued

J  )LQDQFLDODVVHWVDQGILQDQFLDOOLDELOLWLHV....continued

3ROLF\DSSOLFDEOHIURP$SULO....continued

(ix) Impairment of financial assets....continued

0HDVXUHPHQWRIH[SHFWHGFUHGLWORVVHV (&/ ....continued

'HILQLWLRQRIGHIDXOW....continued

$FRXQWHUSDUW\LVFODVVLILHGDVGHIDXOWHGDWWKHODWHVWZKHQSD\PHQWVRILQWHUHVWSULQFLSDORUIHHVDUH
RYHUGXH IRU PRUH WKDQ  GD\V RU ZKHQ EDQNUXSWF\ IUDXG LQVROYHQF\ SURFHHGLQJV RU HQIRUFHG
OLTXLGDWLRQKDYHFRPPHQFHGRUWKHUHLVRWKHUHYLGHQFHWKDWSD\PHQWREOLJDWLRQVZLOOQRWEHIXOO\
PHW7KHGHWHUPLQDWLRQRIZKHWKHUDILQDQFLDODVVHWLVFUHGLWLPSDLUHGIRFXVHVRQGHIDXOWULVNZLWKRXW
WDNLQJLQWRFRQVLGHUDWLRQWKHHIIHFWVRIFUHGLWULVNPLWLJDWLRQVVXFKDVFROODWHUDORUJXDUDQWHHV

$ ILQDQFLDO DVVHW LV FODVVLILHG DV FUHGLWLPSDLUHG LI WKH FRXQWHUSDUW\ KDV GHIDXOWHG DQGRU WKH
LQVWUXPHQWLVSXUFKDVHGRURULJLQDWHGFUHGLWLPSDLUHG

7KH %DQN FRQVLGHUV WKDW GHIDXOW KDV RFFXUUHG DQG FODVVLILHV WKH ILQDQFLDO DVVHW DV FUHGLW LPSDLUHG
ZKHQLWLVPRUHWKDQGD\VSDVWGXH

&UHGLWLPSDLUHGILQDQFLDODVVHWV

$WHDFKUHSRUWLQJGDWHWKH%DQNDVVHVVHVZKHWKHUILQDQFLDODVVHWVFDUULHGDWDPRUWLVHGFRVWDQGGHEW
ILQDQFLDODVVHWVFDUULHGDW)92&,DUHFUHGLWဩLPSDLUHG UHIHUUHGWRDVµ6WDJHILQDQFLDODVVHWV¶ $
ILQDQFLDODVVHWLVµFUHGLWဩLPSDLUHG¶ZKHQRQHRUPRUHHYHQWVWKDWKDYHDGHWULPHQWDOLPSDFWRQWKH
HVWLPDWHGIXWXUHFDVKIORZVRIWKHILQDQFLDODVVHWKDYHRFFXUUHG

6LJQLILFDQWLQFUHDVHLQFUHGLWULVN

$VLJQLILFDQWLQFUHDVHLQFUHGLWULVNLVGHILQHGDVDVLJQLILFDQWLQFUHDVHLQWKHSUREDELOLW\RIDGHIDXOW
RFFXUULQJ VLQFH LQLWLDO UHFRJQLWLRQ :KHQ GHWHUPLQLQJ ZKHWKHU WKH ULVN RI GHIDXOW RQ D ILQDQFLDO
LQVWUXPHQWKDVLQFUHDVHGVLJQLILFDQWO\VLQFHLQLWLDOUHFRJQLWLRQWKH%DQNFRQVLGHUVERWKTXDQWLWDWLYH
DQGTXDOLWDWLYHLQIRUPDWLRQDQGDQDO\VLVEDVHGRQKLVWRULFDOH[SHULHQFHDQGFUHGLWULVNDVVHVVPHQW
$VDEDFNVWRSWKH%DQNFRQVLGHUVWKDWDVLJQLILFDQWLQFUHDVHLQFUHGLWULVNRFFXUVQRODWHUWKDQZKHQ
DQDVVHWLVPRUHWKDQGD\VSDVWGXH

,)56  DOVR UHTXLUHV WKDW RWKHU WKDQ IRU SXUFKDVHG RU RULJLQDWHG FUHGLW LPSDLUHG ILQDQFLDO
LQVWUXPHQWV LIDVLJQLILFDQWLQFUHDVHLQFUHGLWULVNWKDWKDGWDNHQSODFHVLQFHLQLWLDOUHFRJQLWLRQKDV
UHYHUVHGE\DVXEVHTXHQWUHSRUWLQJSHULRGWKHQWKHORVVDOORZDQFHUHYHUWVIURPOLIHWLPH(&/WR
PRQWK



EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019 | 83

Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTES2019
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

2. Summary of significant accounting policies....continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities....continued
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018....continued

(ix) Impairment of financial assets....continued
Measurement of expected credit losses (ECL) ....continued
Write-offs
The write-off of a financial asset is a derecognition event. Loans and the related impairment losses
are written off, either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Where loans
are secured, they are generally written off after receipt of any proceeds from the realization of
collateral. In circumstances where the net realizable value of any collateral has been determined and
there is no reasonable expectation of further recovery, write-off may be earlier.
A counterparty is classified as defaulted at the latest when payments of interest, principal or fees are
overdue for more than 90 days or when bankruptcy, fraud, insolvency proceedings or enforced
liquidation have commenced or there is other evidence that payment obligations will not be fully
met. The determination of whether a Financial Instrument is credit-impaired focuses on default risk,
without taking into consideration the effects of credit risk mitigations such as collateral or guarantees.
An instrument is classified as credit-impaired if the counterparty is defaulted and/or the instrument
is POCI.
Presentation of allowance for ECL
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
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Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount
of the assets;
Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI - the ECLs are not recognised in the
statement of financial position because the carrying amounts of these assets remain their fair
values. However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in the fair value reserve
in equity with a corresponding charge to the statement of profit or loss. The accumulated
loss recognised in OCI is recycled to profit or loss upon derecognition of the financial assets.
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Summary of significant accounting policies….continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities….continued
Accounting policies applied to financial assets and liabilities prior to 1 April 2018
Financial assets
In accordance with IAS 39, all financial assets and liabilities – which include derivative financial
instruments – are recognised in the statement of financial position and measured in accordance with
their assigned category.
The Bank allocates financial assets to the following three categories: financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; loans and receivables; and available-for-sale financial assets. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A
financial asset is classified in this category if acquired or incurred principally for the purpose
of selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedging instruments. Assets in this category are classified as current assets as
they are expected to be settled within 12 months. They are recognised in the statement of
financial position as “Financial assets held for trading”.
Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair value; transaction
costs are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value are included directly in the statement of profit or loss. The instruments are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or the Bank has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

(ii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those that the Bank upon initial
recognition designates as available-for-sale; or (b) those for which the Bank may not recover
substantially all its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value - which is the cash consideration to
originate or purchase the loan including any transaction costs - and measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest on loans and receivables are
included in the statement of profit or loss and is reported as “interest income”. In the case of
impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan
and receivables and recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Loans and receivables are
measured at amortised cost.
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Summary of significant accounting policiesc
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities….continued
Accounting policies applied to financial assets and liabilities prior to 1 April 2018...continued
Financial assets...continued
(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments are those to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may
be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, equity prices or exchange
rates, or that are not classified as loans and receivables or financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash
consideration including any transaction costs. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Bank has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains and losses
arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income or loss, until the financial asset is derecognised or
impaired. At this time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.
Interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign currency gains and losses on
monetary assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the Bank’s right to receive payment is established.
(iv) Recognition
All purchases and sales of investment securities are recognised at settlement date (date when
the trade is recognised/recorded in the system), which is the date that the asset is delivered to
or by the Bank.
(v)
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Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
these assets have ceased to exist or the assets have been transferred and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets are also transferred (that is, if substantially all the
risks and rewards have not been transferred, the Bank tests control to ensure that continuing
involvement on the basis of any retained powers of control does not prevent derecognition).

| EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2019

(Expressed in
dollars)
Expressed
in Eastern
EasternCaribbean
Caribbean
Dollars
2.

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities…continued
Accounting policies applied to financial assets and liabilities prior to 1 April 2018...continued
Financial liabilities
The Bank’s financial liabilities are measured at either fair value through profit or loss or at amortised
cost.
(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
This category is comprised of financial liabilities classified as held for trading, and financial
liabilities designated by the Bank as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for
the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading
unless they are designated and effective as hedging instruments. Financial liabilities held for
trading also include obligations to deliver financial assets borrowed by a short seller. Those
financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position as “Financial
liabilities held for trading”.
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial liabilities classified as held for
trading are included in the statement of profit or loss.
(ii) Other liabilities measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not classified as fair value through profit or loss fall into this
category and are measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
are substantially comprised of: deposits from member banks and participating member
governments’ deposit accounts.
(iii) Derecognition
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished.
Determination of fair value of financial assets and liabilities
For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determination of fair values of financial assets
and financial liabilities is based on quoted bid prices or dealer price quotations. This includes quoted
debt instruments on major exchanges.
A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being inactive. Indications
that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-offer spread or significant increase in the bidoffer spread or there are few recent transactions. In cases when the fair value of unlisted equity
instruments cannot be determined reliably, the instruments are carried at cost less impairment.
33
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities…continued
Accounting policies applied to financial assets and liabilities prior to 1 April 2018...continued
Determination of fair value of financial assets and liabilities…continued
The fair value for loans and advances as well as liabilities to the Bank’s customers is determined
using a present value model on the basis of contractually agreed cash flows, taking into account
credit quality, liquidity and costs.
Classes of financial instruments
The Bank classifies its financial instruments into classes that reflect the nature of information and
take into account the characteristics of those financial instruments.
Financial assets are grouped as follows:
(1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, being financial assets held for trading.
(2) Loans and receivables being cash, balances with foreign banks, money market instruments
and money at call, due from local banks, accounts receivable, loans and receivables –
Participating Governments’ securities and loans and receivables – Participating Governments’
advances.
(3) Available-for-sale financial assets being debt and equity investment securities (listed and
unlisted).
Financial liabilities are grouped as follows:
(1) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, being financial liabilities held for
trading - derivatives (non-hedging).
(2) Financial liabilities at amortised cost being deposit balances from member banks, participating
governments and other liabilities and payables.
Impairment of financial assets
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (‘a loss
event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities…continued
Accounting policies applied to financial assets and liabilities prior to 1 April 2018...continued
Impairment of financial assets….continued
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost….continued
The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss
include:
i.

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

ii. a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
iii. the Bank granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
iv. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;
v. the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties; or
vi. observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the
decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including:


adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; or



national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the
group.

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial
assets that are not individually significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not,
it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is
or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. As a practical expedient,
the Bank may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an
observable market price.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities…continued
Accounting policies applied to financial assets and liabilities prior to 1 April 2018...continued
Impairment of financial assets...continued
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost...continued
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collaterised financial
asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling
the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the
basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e., on the basis of the Bank’s grading process that
considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status or other
relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for
groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according
to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment
are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets and historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those being evaluated.
Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects
of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is
based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist.
Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally
consistent with changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes
in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes
in the probability of losses in the Bank and their magnitude).
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly
by the Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
When an asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for impairment. Such
assets are written off after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the
loss has been determined.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtors’ credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in impairment charge for credit losses.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities…continued
Accounting policies applied to financial assets and liabilities prior to 1 April 2018...continued
Impairment of financial assets…continued
(b) Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as
available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its
cost is considered in determining whether the asset is impaired. If any such evidence of
impairment exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss, measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that financial asset previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from
equity and recognised in the statement of profit or loss. If in a subsequent period, the fair value
of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the statement of profit
or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in the statement of profit or loss on equity instruments are not reversed through the
statement of profit or loss.

h)

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, there is a current legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

i)

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market
prices in active markets including recent market transactions. All derivatives are carried as assets
when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.
Changes in the fair value of the Bank's derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the
statement of profit or loss. None of the Bank's derivative instruments have been designated as
hedging instruments and they all relate to currency forwards.
The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction price (that
is, the fair value of the consideration given or received) unless the fair value of that instrument is
evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument
(that is, without modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique whose variables
include only data from observable markets.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
j)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with original maturities of less than or equal to 90 days
from the date of acquisition, including cash on hand, balances with other banks, short-term highlyliquid funds and investments.
Cash equivalents are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

k)

Property and equipment and depreciation
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost or revalued amount less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Land and buildings are shown at fair value based on external independent valuations less subsequent
depreciation for buildings. The revaluation was performed by independent professional valuers.
Revaluations are carried out with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying value of land and
buildings approximates fair value. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the
revalued amount of the asset.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other
comprehensive income or loss and shown as other reserves in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that
offset previous increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income or loss and
debited against other reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the statement of
profit or loss.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method at rates estimated to write down the cost or
valuation of such assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Buildings
Equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Motor vehicles
Land improvements
Building improvements
Computer systems

2.63% to 14.29%
6.67% to 20%
10% to 20%
14.29% to 20%
10%
10%
20% to 33.33%

Land is not depreciated. Donated property is recorded at fair value at the time of receipt.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
k)

Property and equipment and depreciation….continued
Property and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment or when indicators exist that there
may be impairment. When the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. No property and equipment were
impaired as at 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).
Gains and losses on the disposal of property and equipment are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating profit. When revalued
assets are sold, the amounts included in other reserves are transferred to retained earnings.

l)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are substantially comprised of acquired computer software programmes. These are
capitalised on the basis of the cost incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. The
Bank chooses to use the cost model for the measurement after recognition. These costs are amortised
using the straight-line method on the basis of the expected useful life of three years. Generally, the
identified intangible assets of the Bank have a definite useful life. Costs associated with maintaining
computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
At each reporting date, intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in
estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangible assets are analysed to
assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

m) Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cashgenerating units). The impairment test also can be performed on a single asset when the fair value
less costs to sell or the value in use can be determined reliably. Non-financial assets that suffer
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
n)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
n)

Provisions….continued
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

o)

Other liabilities and payables
Other liabilities and payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in
the ordinary course of business from suppliers. These are classified as current liabilities if payments
are due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
Other liabilities and payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

p)

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The Bank
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have been met for each of
the Bank’s activities, as described below.
Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within
“interest income” and “interest expense” in the statement of profit or loss for all instruments
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest
rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for
example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.
The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
p)

Revenue recognition….continued
Interest income and expense….continued
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an
impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
Commissions’ income
Commissions are generally charged on transactions with commercial banks and other institutions
except participating governments, and are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service
has been provided. Transactions that attract commissions include purchase and sale of foreign
currency notes and balances and issue and redemption of Eastern Caribbean currency notes.
Other income
Licence fees due under the Banking Act, are fixed and non-cancellable and are recorded in profit or
loss when due. Income from banking licence fees are reported in the statement of profit or loss in
the ‘other income’ grouping.

q)

Leases
The leases entered into by the Bank are primarily operating leases. The total payments made under
operating leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease.
When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to
be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination
takes place.
(i)

Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by
another party, the lessor, are classified as operating leases. Payments, including pre-payments,
made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(ii) Finance leases
Leases of property and equipment, where the Bank has substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of
the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimum
lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so
as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.
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 6XPPDU\RIVLJQLILFDQWDFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHV…continued

T  /HDVHV….continued

(ii) Finance leases….continued

7KHFRUUHVSRQGLQJUHQWDOREOLJDWLRQVQHWRIILQDQFHFKDUJHVDUHLQFOXGHGLQSD\DEOHV7KHLQWHUHVW
HOHPHQWRIWKHILQDQFHFRVWLVFKDUJHGWRWKHVWDWHPHQWRISURILWRUORVVRYHUWKHOHDVHSHULRGVRDVWR
SURGXFHDFRQVWDQWSHULRGLFUDWHRILQWHUHVWRQWKHUHPDLQLQJEDODQFHRIWKHOLDELOLW\IRUHDFKSHULRG
3URSHUW\DQGHTXLSPHQWDFTXLUHGXQGHUILQDQFHOHDVHVDUHGHSUHFLDWHGRYHUWKHVKRUWHURIWKHXVHIXO
OLIHRIWKHDVVHWRUWKHOHDVHWHUP

U  (PSOR\HHEHQHILWV
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7KH%DQNRSHUDWHVDGHILQHGEHQHILWSHQVLRQVFKHPHIRULWVHOLJLEOHHPSOR\HHV7KHDVVHWVRIWKH
SODQDUHKHOGLQDVLQJOHWUXVWHHDGPLQLVWHUHG IXQGHVWDEOLVKHG E\ WKH (DVWHUQ &DULEEHDQ&HQWUDO
%DQN$GHILQHGEHQHILWSODQLVDSHQVLRQSODQWKDWGHILQHVDQDPRXQWRISHQVLRQEHQHILWWKDWDQ
HPSOR\HHZLOOUHFHLYHRQUHWLUHPHQWXVXDOO\GHSHQGHQWRQRQHRUPRUHIDFWRUVVXFKDVDJH\HDUVRI
VHUYLFHDQGFRPSHQVDWLRQ7KHSHQVLRQEHQHILWLVEDVHGRQWKHILQDOVDODU\RIWKHHPSOR\HH

$QDVVHWRUOLDELOLW\UHFRJQLVHGLQWKHVWDWHPHQWRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQLQUHVSHFWRIGHILQHGEHQHILW
SHQVLRQSODQVLVWKHSUHVHQWYDOXHRIWKHGHILQHGEHQHILWREOLJDWLRQDWWKHUHSRUWLQJGDWHOHVVWKHIDLU
YDOXHRISODQDVVHWV$QDSSUR[LPDWHYDOXHRIWKHGHILQHGEHQHILWREOLJDWLRQLVFDOFXODWHGHYHU\\HDU
E\ LQGHSHQGHQW DFWXDULHV XVLQJ WKH SURMHFWHG XQLW FUHGLW PHWKRG EDVHG RQ GHWDLOHG FDOFXODWLRQV
FDUULHGRXWIRUWKHPRVWUHFHQWWULHQQLDOIXQGLQJYDOXDWLRQ

8QGHUWKLVPHWKRGWKHFRVWRISURYLGLQJSHQVLRQVLVFKDUJHGWRWKHVWDWHPHQWRISURILWRUORVVVRDV
WR VSUHDG WKH UHJXODU FRVW RYHU WKH VHUYLFH OLYHV RI HPSOR\HHV LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK WKH DGYLFH RI
TXDOLILHGDFWXDULHVZKRFDUU\RXWDIXOOYDOXDWLRQRIWKHSODQHYHU\WKUHH\HDUV
7KHSHQVLRQREOLJDWLRQLVPHDVXUHGDVWKHSUHVHQWYDOXHRIWKHHVWLPDWHGIXWXUHFDVKRXWIORZVXVLQJ
LQWHUHVW UDWHV RI ORQJWHUP JRYHUQPHQW ERQGV WKDW DUH GHQRPLQDWHG LQ WKH FXUUHQF\ LQ ZKLFK WKH
EHQHILWV ZLOO EH SDLG DQG ZKLFK KDYH WHUPV WR PDWXULW\ DSSUR[LPDWLQJ WKH WHUPV RI WKH UHODWHG
SHQVLRQOLDELOLW\

$FWXDULDOJDLQVDQGORVVHVDULVLQJIURPH[SHULHQFHDGMXVWPHQWVDQGFKDQJHVLQDFWXDULDODVVXPSWLRQV
DUH UHFRJQLVHG LPPHGLDWHO\ LQ RWKHU FRPSUHKHQVLYH LQFRPH 3DVWVHUYLFH FRVWV DUH UHFRJQLVHG
LPPHGLDWHO\LQWKHVWDWHPHQWRISURILWRUORVV

7KH SHQVLRQ SODQ LV IXQGHG E\ SD\PHQWV IURP HPSOR\HHV DQG WKH %DQN WDNLQJ LQWR DFFRXQW WKH
UHFRPPHQGDWLRQVRILQGHSHQGHQWTXDOLILHGDFWXDULHV
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
r)

Employee benefits…continued
Prepaid employee short term benefit
The Bank facilitates loans to its staff at rates that are relatively low in comparison to the normal
market rates in the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union (ECCU). These loans are recognised at fair
value using a normal market rate, and the difference between the fair value and the consideration
given to the employees is recorded as a pre-paid short term employee benefit. The pre-paid shortterm employee benefit is amortised through the statement of profit or loss over the expected service
life of the relevant individual employees or the expected life of the relevant individual loans,
whichever is shorter.

s)

General reserve
The Eastern Caribbean Central Bank Agreement Act 1983 – Article 6(3) (as amended) provides that
“if and so long as the general reserve is less than 5% of the Bank’s demand liabilities at the end of a
financial year in which net profits were earned the Bank shall allocate to the general reserve one half
of such net profits or such smaller amount as will make that reserve equal to 5% of those liabilities;
provided however that with the written agreement of each of the participating governments further
allocation may be made to increase the general reserve beyond five per cent but not more than ten
per cent of the Bank’s demand liabilities.”
For the year ended 31 March 2019 an amount of $30,996,106 was allocated to General Reserves. In
2018, an amount of $9,350,133 was transferred to General Reserves. At 31 March 2019, the general
reserve ratio stood at 3.20% (2018: 2.47%), which is 1.80% (2018: 2.53%) below the 5% target.

t)

Foreign reserve assets
Under Article 24 (2) of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank Agreement Act 1983, the Bank is
required to maintain a reserve of external assets not less than 60% of its notes and coins in circulation,
and other demand liabilities. The percentage of foreign reserve assets to demand liabilities at 31
March 2019 was 99.54% (2018: 97.34%).

u)

Commemorative coins
The nominal value of commemorative coins sold is excluded from the balance of ‘Notes and Coins
in circulation’ while the net proceeds from sales are included in the statement of profit or loss.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
v)

Taxation
In accordance with Article 50 (8) (a) of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank Agreement Act 1983,
the Bank’s income is exempt from any form of taxation.
In accordance with Section 5 sub-section (1) and (2) of the Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage Bank
(“ECHMB”) Agreement Act, 1994 the ECHMB is exempt from stamp duties and corporation tax.
The Bank’s other associated company, the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange Limited
(“ECSE”) has applied to the Ministry of Finance for the renewal of its tax exempt status. The
previous 10-year exemption expired in May 2013. The request for a further extension is yet to be
granted by the Ministry of Finance.

3.

Financial risk management
a)

Introduction and overview
Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification,
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. By its nature, the Bank’s
activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments. The strategy for using these
financial instruments is embedded in the mission of the Bank to maintain the stability of the Eastern
Caribbean Dollar and the integrity of the banking system in order to facilitate the balanced growth
and development of member states.
The activities of the Bank require the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some
degree of risk or combination of risks. In executing its duties as a central bank, there are significant
inherent risks which the Bank faces, both at the macro and micro levels of its operations. These risks
arise primarily through the Bank’s execution of its reserve management function, the provision of
banking services to governments and commercial banks and from the broad areas of monetary policy,
financial sector stability, management of the payment system and the daily operational tasks
undertaken to support these functions.
The Bank’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and the objectives of its
reserve management function which are: i) preservation of capital, ii) meeting liquidity requirements
and iii) realizing a satisfactory return. It also seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Bank’s financial performance.
The Bank’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of
reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Bank regularly reviews its risk management
policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practices.
In addition, the Bank, through its training and management Standards and procedures, aims to
develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their
role and obligations.
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 )LQDQFLDOULVNPDQDJHPHQW…continued

E  5LVN0DQDJHPHQW6WUXFWXUH

%RDUG$XGLWDQG5LVN&RPPLWWHH
7KH%RDUG$XGLWDQG5LVN&RPPLWWHH %$5& DVVLVWVWKH%RDUGLQUHODWLRQWRWKHRYHUVLJKWRIULVN
DQGWKH%DQN¶VILQDQFLDODQGUHSRUWLQJSURFHVVHV7KH%$5&UHYLHZVWKH%DQN¶VULVNDSSHWLWHLQ
OLQH ZLWK VWUDWHJ\ LGHQWLILHV DQG PRQLWRUV ULVN H[SRVXUH DQG WKH ULVN PDQDJHPHQW LQIUDVWUXFWXUH
RYHUVHHVWKHLPSOHPHQWDWLRQRIVWUDWHJ\WRDGGUHVVULVNDQGDVVHVVHVWKHVWUHQJWKDQGHIIHFWLYHQHVV
RI WKH ULVN PDQDJHPHQW DQG LQWHUQDO FRQWURO IUDPHZRUN $GGLWLRQDOO\ WKH %$5& PRQLWRUV WKH
LQWHJULW\RIWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQGLVUHVSRQVLEOHIRUJRYHUQDQFHDURXQGERWKWKH,QWHUQDO$XGLW
DQG(QWHUSULVH5LVN0DQDJHPHQWIXQFWLRQVDQGUHSRUWVEDFNWRWKH%RDUG7KH%$5&UHYLHZVWKH
HIIHFWLYHQHVVRIWKHSROLFLHVSURFHGXUHVDQGV\VWHPVLQSODFHUHODWHGWRDPRQJRWKHUVRSHUDWLRQDO
ULVNVFRPSOLDQFH,QIRUPDWLRQ7HFKQRORJ\ ,7 DQGLQWHUQDOVHFXULW\ LQFOXGLQJF\EHUVHFXULW\ 

([HFXWLYH0DQDJHPHQW
7KH PDQDJHPHQW RI WKH %DQN KDV WKH UHVSRQVLELOLW\ WR HQVXUH WKDW HIILFLHQW DQG HIIHFWLYH ULVN
PDQDJHPHQWPHFKDQLVPVDUHLQSODFHLQFOXGLQJUHSRUWLQJWRYDULRXVH[HFXWLYHFRPPLWWHHV.H\WR
WKH PDQDJHPHQW RI ULVN ZLWKLQ WKH FRQWH[W RI WKH UHVHUYH PDQDJHPHQW IXQFWLRQ LV WKH UHVHUYH
PDQDJHPHQWIUDPHZRUNZKLFKHPERGLHVWKH%DQN¶VULVNWROHUDQFH

,QFOXGHG LQ WKLV IUDPHZRUN DUH WKH LQYHVWPHQW JXLGHOLQHV ZKLFK HVWDEOLVK WKH SDUDPHWHUV ZLWKLQ
ZKLFKWKHUHVHUYH PDQDJHPHQWIXQFWLRQLVH[HFXWHG7KH%RDUGDSSURYHVWKHZULWWHQSROLFLHVIRU
RYHUDOOULVNPDQDJHPHQWDVZHOODVVSHFLILFSROLFLHVUHODWLQJWRWKHUHVHUYHPDQDJHPHQWIXQFWLRQ
$GGLWLRQDOO\ WKH SURYLVLRQ RI EDQNLQJ VHUYLFHV LV JRYHUQHG E\ SROLF\ GHFLVLRQV RI WKH %RDUG RI
'LUHFWRUV

2IILFHRI5LVN0DQDJHPHQW
7KH&KLHI5LVN2IILFHU &52 KDVUHVSRQVLELOLW\IRUGHVLJQLQJDQGLPSOHPHQWLQJDQ(QWHUSULVH5LVN
0DQDJHPHQW)UDPHZRUNWRHQKDQFHWKH%DQN¶VULVNPDQDJHPHQWIXQFWLRQ7KH&52UHSRUWVRQULVN
PDWWHUVWRWKH([HFXWLYH&RPPLWWHHDQGWKH%RDUG$XGLWDQG5LVN&RPPLWWHH,QDGGLWLRQWKH&52
LV UHVSRQVLEOH IRU WKH LQGHSHQGHQW UHYLHZ RI ULVN PDQDJHPHQW DQG WKH FRQWUROV HQYLURQPHQW WKH
UHVXOWVRIZKLFKDUHUHSRUWHGWRWKH%RDUG$XGLWDQG5LVN&RPPLWWHH

,QWHUQDO$XGLW'HSDUWPHQW
7KH ,QWHUQDO $XGLW GHSDUWPHQW LV UHVSRQVLEOH IRU SURYLGLQJ DVVXUDQFH WKDW WKH %DQN¶V ULVN
PDQDJHPHQW LQWHUQDO FRQWURO DQG FRUSRUDWH JRYHUQDQFH SURFHVVHV DUH DGHTXDWHO\ GHVLJQHG DQG
RSHUDWLQJHIIHFWLYHO\7KH,QWHUQDO$XGLWGHSDUWPHQWGLVFXVVHVWKHUHVXOWVRIDOODVVHVVPHQWVZLWK
H[HFXWLYHPDQDJHPHQWDQGUHSRUWVLWVILQGLQJVDQGUHFRPPHQGDWLRQVWRWKH%RDUG$XGLWDQG5LVN
&RPPLWWHH7KH,QWHUQDO$XGLW'HSDUWPHQWDOVRPRQLWRUVWKHGHSDUWPHQWV¶LPSOHPHQWDWLRQRIDXGLW
UHFRPPHQGDWLRQVDQGUHSRUWVSURJUHVVWRWKH([HFXWLYH&RPPLWWHHDQGWKH%$5&

7KH SULQFLSDO W\SHV RI ULVNV LQKHUHQW LQ WKH %DQN¶V UHVHUYH PDQDJHPHQW DFWLYLWLHV DUH FUHGLW ULVN
OLTXLGLW\ULVNPDUNHWULVNRSHUDWLRQDOULVNDQGVWUDWHJLFULVN0DUNHWULVNLQFOXGHVFXUUHQF\ULVNIDLU
YDOXHLQWHUHVWUDWHULVNFDVKIORZLQWHUHVWUDWHULVNDQGRWKHUSULFHULVN
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Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTES2019
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March

(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars
3.

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
c)

Credit risk
The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a customer, client or market
counterparty will fail to fulfil their contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Bank.
The Bank is exposed to credit risk primarily on account of its reserve management activities. These
exposures arise mainly through investments in debt securities of international governments and
agencies and domestic governments; and through lending to governments and commercial banks.
The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to
accept for individual counterparties and for geographical, industry, product and currency
concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits. Credit risk is important to the
Bank’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk.
There were no material changes in credit risk management practice at the Bank as a consequence of
the application of IFRS 9.
(i) Impairment of financial assets
The Bank has three types of financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model:
 Debt investments carried at FVOCI;
 Debt investments carried at amortised cost;
 Accounts receivable.
While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.
Debt investment securities at FVOCI
All of the Bank’s debt investments at FVOCI are considered to have low credit risk, and the loss
allowance recognised during the period was therefore limited to 12 months expected credit losses.
Foreign investment securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
include listed securities.
Management considers ‘low credit risk’ for listed securities to be an investment grade credit rating
with at least one major rating agency.
Debt investment securities at Amortised Cost
Other debt instruments (including unlisted participating government securities) are considered to be
low credit risk as they have a low risk of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
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 )LQDQFLDOULVNPDQDJHPHQW…continued



F  &UHGLWULVN….continued

L  ,PSDLUPHQWRIILQDQFLDODVVHWV….continued

$FFRXQWVUHFHLYDEOHV

7KH%DQNDSSOLHVWKH,)56VLPSOLILHGDSSURDFKWRPHDVXULQJH[SHFWHGFUHGLWORVVHVZKLFKXVHVD
OLIHWLPHH[SHFWHGORVVDOORZDQFHIRUDOOWUDGHUHFHLYDEOHVDQGFRQWUDFWDVVHWV5HFHLYDEOHVDUHZULWWHQ
RII ZKHQ WKHUH LV QR UHDVRQDEOH H[SHFWDWLRQ RI UHFRYHU\ ,QGLFDWRUV WKDW WKHUH LV QR UHDVRQDEOH
H[SHFWDWLRQRIUHFRYHU\LQFOXGHDPRQJVWRWKHUVWKHIDLOXUHRIDGHEWRUWRHQJDJHLQDUHSD\PHQW
SODQZLWKWKH%DQNDQGDIDLOXUHWRPDNHFRQWUDFWXDOSD\PHQWVIRUDSHULRGRIJUHDWHUWKDQGD\V
SDVWGXH,PSDLUPHQWORVVHVRQUHFHLYDEOHVDUHSUHVHQWHGDVQHWLPSDLUPHQWORVVHVZLWKLQRSHUDWLQJ
SURILW6XEVHTXHQWUHFRYHULHVRIDPRXQWVSUHYLRXVO\ZULWWHQRIIDUHFUHGLWHGDJDLQVWWKHVDPHOLQH
LWHP

,PSDLUPHQWDVVHVVPHQW
)LQDQFLDO DVVHW SURYLVLRQV DUH UHYLHZHG TXDUWHUO\ LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK LQWHUQDO JXLGHOLQHV DQG
UHFRPPHQGHG SURYLVLRQV DULVLQJ RXW RI WKH DVVHVVPHQW DUH UHFRUGHG 1RQSHUIRUPLQJ GHEWV
UHFRPPHQGHG IRU ZULWHRII DUH DOVR UHYLHZHG DQQXDOO\ DQG DFWLRQ WDNHQ LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK
SUHVFULEHGJXLGHOLQHV

'HIDXOWDQGUHFRYHU\
7KH%DQNFRQVLGHUVDILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWGHIDXOWHGDQGWKHUHIRUH6WDJH FUHGLWLPSDLUHG IRU(&/
FDOFXODWLRQVLQFDVHVZKHQWKHERUURZHUEHFRPHVGD\VSDVWGXHRQLWVFRQWUDFWXDOSD\PHQWV$VD
SDUWRIDTXDOLWDWLYHDVVHVVPHQWRIZKHWKHUDFRXQWHUSDUW\LVLQGHIDXOWWKH%DQNDOVRFRQVLGHUVD
YDULHW\ RI LQVWDQFHV WKDW PD\ LQGLFDWH XQOLNHOLQHVV WR SD\ :KHQ VXFK HYHQWV RFFXU WKH %DQN
FRQVLGHUVZKHWKHUWKHHYHQWVKRXOGUHVXOWLQWUHDWLQJWKHFXVWRPHUDVGHIDXOWHGDQGWKHUHIRUHDVVHVVHG
DV6WDJHIRU(&/FDOFXODWLRQVRUZKHWKHU6WDJHLVDSSURSULDWH

,WLVWKH%DQN¶VSROLF\WRFRQVLGHUDILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWDVµUHFRYHUHG¶DQGWKHUHIRUHUHFODVVLILHG
RXWRI6WDJHZKHQQRQHRIWKHGHIDXOWFULWHULD DVVHWRXWLQ1RWH J DERYH KDYHEHHQSUHVHQW
7KH GHFLVLRQZKHWKHU WR UHFODVVLI\ DQ DVVHW DV 6WDJH  RU 6WDJH RQFH UHFRYHUHG GHSHQGVRQ WKH
XSGDWHGUDWLQJRUFUHGLWJUDGHDWWKHWLPHRIUHFRYHU\

,QYHVWPHQWVHFXULWLHV
3'V DQG /*'V IRU WUDGHG LQVWUXPHQWV ZHUH EDVHG RQ WKH JOREDO FUHGLW UDWLQJV DVVLJQHG WR WKH
LQVWUXPHQWVRUWKHFRXQWU\IRUVRYHUHLJQH[SRVXUHV3'VDQG/*'VIRUQRQWUDGHGLQVWUXPHQWVZHUH
EDVHGRQRQHQRWFKEHORZWKHFUHGLWUDWLQJRIWKHVRYHUHLJQLQZKLFKWKHLQVWUXPHQWLVLVVXHGRURQ
SUR[\ UDWLQJV ZKHUH WKH\ H[LVWHG 0DQDJHPHQW DSSOLHG MXGJHPHQWDO RYHUOD\V RQ ORFDO GHEW
LQVWUXPHQWV($'HTXDOVWKHDPRUWLVHGVHFXULW\EDODQFHSOXVDFFUXHGLQWHUHVW
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Financial risk management…continued
c)

Credit risk….continued

(i) Impairment of financial assets….continued
Cash and cash equivalents
Balances with other central banks, balances with foreign banks, cash and balances with local banks
and term deposits are short term funds and the Bank therefore considers the risk of default to be very
low. These facilities are highly liquid and without restriction and based on management’s review of
the underlying instruments the ECL on these instruments were determined to be zero.
Significant increase in credit risk
The Bank continuously monitors foreign and domestic financial assets subject to ECLs. In order to
determine whether an instrument or a portfolio of instruments is subject to 12-month ECL or lifetime
ECL, the Bank assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The Bank applies credit rating scale to determine whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. Credit risk is deemed to have increased significantly if the credit rating on
foreign investment securities moved from investment grade to standard grade as set out in
Note 3(c) (ii).
When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets, the Bank applies the same
principles for assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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Financial risk management…continued
c)

Credit risk….continued

(ii) Credit quality of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Bank through external credit ratings used in
ECL calculations. The table below shows internal and external grades used in ECL calculating.

Rating Levels
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

Moody's Rating
Aaa
Aa1
Aa2
Aa3
A1
A2
A3
Baa1
Baa2
Baa3
Ba1
Ba2
Ba3
B1
B2
B3
B
Caa1
Caa2
Caa3
Ca

Description of grade
Investment grade

22

C

Default

Standard grade

Low grade
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Financial risk management…continued
c)

Credit risk…continued
Credit risk measurement and mitigation policies
Investment securities and money market instruments and money at call
The Bank manages credit risk by placing limits on its exposure to governments, international
institutions and U.S. government agencies. It places limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation
to one borrower and country. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual
or more frequent review.
The investment policy and guidelines approved by the Board of Directors, stipulate the limits on the
level of credit risk by borrower, product, industry, sector and country. They also stipulate the
minimum required ratings issued by Moody’s or another recognised rating agency for its
international investments. The Bank further manages this risk by ensuring that business is only
conducted with its approved banks and by monitoring those banks’ deposit ratings via rating
agencies. The global custodian is also monitored daily and periodically reviewed.
The table below presents an analysis of the Bank’s foreign debt securities (note 9) and money market
instruments and money at call (note 6) by rating agency designation at 31 March 2019 and
31 March 2018, based on Moody’s or equivalent:
Foreign securities
Rated (Moody’s)
Foreign debt securities
Aaa
Aa1
Aa2
Aa3

Unrated
Domestic equity securities

104 | EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

2019
$

2018
$

2,395,812,133
131,401,688
177,995,735
67,260,725

2,707,929,718
137,364,748
217,818,408
81,829,901

2,772,470,281

3,144,942,775

2019

2018

$
624,186
624,186

$
624,186
624,186

(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQ&HQWUDO%DQN

1RWHVWRWKH)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
)RUWKH\HDUHQGHG0DUFK

([SUHVVHGLQ(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQGROODUV
Expressed
in Eastern Caribbean Dollars 


For the Year Ended 31 March 2019



 )LQDQFLDOULVNPDQDJHPHQW…continued

F  &UHGLWULVN…continued
&UHGLWULVNPHDVXUHPHQWDQGPLWLJDWLRQSROLFLHV…continued

Investment securitiesand money market instruments and money at call…continued

0RQH\PDUNHWLQVWUXPHQWVDQGPRQH\DWFDOO


5DWHG 0RRG\¶V 

&RPPHUFLDOSDSHUFHUWLILFDWHRIGHSRVLWVDQGWHUP
GHSRVLWV






$D

$D

$D

$





8QUDWHG


0RQH\DWFDOO
7HUPGHSRVLWV












 




















Participating governments advances
$GYDQFHVDUHEDVHGRQ%RDUGDSSURYHGFUHGLWDOORFDWLRQOLPLWV5HTXHVWVIRUDGYDQFHVE\PHPEHU
JRYHUQPHQWVDUHUHYLHZHGWRHQVXUHWKDWWKHDPRXQWVDUHZLWKLQWKHDSSURYHGDOORFDWHGOLPLWV7KHVH
DSSURYHGOLPLWVDUHFDOFXODWHGDQGDVVLJQHGWRWKHJRYHUQPHQWVDQQXDOO\

Due from local banks
$GYDQFHVDUHJUDQWHGWRFRPPHUFLDOEDQNVLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWK3DUW9,,,$UWLFOH  DQG3DUW,,D
$UWLFOH%RIWKH(&&%$JUHHPHQW$FW8QGHU3DUW9,,,$UWLFOH  WKHERUURZLQJEDQN
PXVWSOHGJHFROODWHUDOZLWKWKH&HQWUDO%DQNDQGFDQRQO\ERUURZQLQHW\SHUFHQWRIWKHFROODWHUDO
DPRXQWSOHGJHG
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Financial risk management…continued
c)

Credit risk…continued
Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements
Credit risk exposure relating to the financial assets in the statement of financial position:
As at 31 March
Assets
Foreign assets
Balances with other central banks
Balances with foreign banks
Money market instruments and money at call
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Foreign investment securities

Domestic assets
Cash and balances with local banks
Term deposits
Participating governments’ securities
Participating governments’ advances
Accounts receivable
Domestic investment securities

Total on-balance sheet credit risk
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2019
$

2018
$

14,237,270
52,946
1,942,645,394
95,713
2,785,672,676

6,223,088
64,548
1,508,844,830
656,871
3,157,667,399

4,742,703,999

4,673,456,736

2,691,622
6,539,012
60,168,839
43,596,201
7,210,395
624,186

3,221,502
7,748,428
83,189,928
43,330,371
12,848,670
624,186

120,830,255

150,963,085

4,863,534,254

4,824,419,821

(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQ&HQWUDO%DQN

1RWHVWRWKH)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
)RUWKH\HDUHQGHG0DUFK

([SUHVVHGLQ(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQGROODUV 
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars


For the Year Ended 31 March 2019



 )LQDQFLDOULVNPDQDJHPHQW…continued

F  &UHGLWULVN…continued

&UHGLWULVNH[SRVXUHUHODWLQJWRILQDQFLDODVVHWVRIIWKHVWDWHPHQWRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQ







(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQ6HFXULWLHV([FKDQJH/LPLWHG
XQGHUWDNLQJDQGJXDUDQWHH
















7RWDOFUHGLWH[SRVXUH














7KHDERYHWDEOHUHSUHVHQWVDZRUVWFDVHVFHQDULRRIFUHGLWULVNH[SRVXUHDVDW0DUFKDQG
ZLWKRXWWDNLQJDFFRXQWRIDQ\FROODWHUDOKHOGRURWKHUFUHGLWHQKDQFHPHQWVDWWDFKHG

)RUVWDWHPHQWRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQDVVHWVWKHH[SRVXUHVVHWRXWLQWKHDERYHWDEOHDUHEDVHGRQQHW
FDUU\LQJDPRXQWVDVUHSRUWHGLQWKHVWDWHPHQWRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQ

$VGHSLFWHGLQWKHWDEOHDERYH ± RIWKHWRWDOPD[LPXPH[SRVXUHLVGHULYHG
IURPIRUHLJQLQYHVWPHQWVHFXULWLHVDQG ± UHSUHVHQWVPRQH\PDUNHWLQVWUXPHQWV
DQGPRQH\DWFDOO
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
c)

Credit risk…continued
The following table breaks down the Bank’s main credit exposure at the carrying amounts, as categorised by geographical regions as of
31 March 2019. In this table, the Bank has allocated exposure to regions based on the country of domicile of the counterparties.
Geographical concentration of financial assets

As of 31 March 2019
Balances with other central banks
Balances with foreign banks
Money market instruments and money at call
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Foreign investment securities
Balances with local banks
Term deposits – domestic
Participating governments’ securities
Participating governments’ advances
Accounts receivable
Domestic investment securities
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Eastern
Caribbean
Currency
Union
$

United
States of
America and
Canada
$

Europe and
other
territories
$

Regional
states
$

Total
$

795,723
403,035
52,946
- 1,183,825,992
758,819,402
11,225
84,488
- 1,725,635,246 1,060,037,430
2,691,622
6,539,012
60,168,839
43,596,201
7,210,395
-

13,038,512
624,186

14,237,270
52,946
1,942,645,394
95,713
2,785,672,676
2,691,622
6,539,012
60,168,839
43,596,201
7,210,395
624,186

120,206,069 2,910,321,132 1,819,344,355

13,662,698

4,863,534,254

Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(expressed in
in Eastern
Expressed
Eastern Caribbean
Caribbeandollars)
Dollars
3.

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
c) Credit risk…continued
Geographical concentration of financial assets…continued

As of 31 March 2018
Balances with other central banks
Balances with foreign banks
Money market instruments and money at call
Financial assets held for trading
Available-for-sale - foreign investment securities
Balances with local banks
Term deposits – domestic
Loans and receivables - participating governments’
securities
Loans and receivables - participating governments’
advances
Accounts receivable
Available-for-sale - domestic investment securities

Eastern
Caribbean
Currency
Union
$

United
States of
America and
Canada
$

Europe and
other
territories
$

902,597
227,742
64,548
836,194,830
672,650,000
656,871
- 1,954,382,259 1,203,285,140
3,221,502
7,748,428
-

Total
$

5,092,749
6,223,088
64,548
- 1,508,844,830
656,871
- 3,157,667,399
3,221,502
7,748,428

83,189,928

-

-

-

83,189,928

43,330,371
12,848,670
-

-

-

624,186

43,330,371
12,848,670
624,186

150,338,899 2,791,544,234 1,876,819,753
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Regional
states
$

5,716,935 4,824,419,821
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(expressed in
Expressed
in Eastern
EasternCaribbean
Caribbeandollars)
Dollars
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
d)

Market risk
The Bank is exposed to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices. The Bank’s reserve management
mandate permits investment in a number of instruments. The Bank is exposed to general and specific
market movements and volatility of market rates and prices such as interest rates, credit spreads and
foreign exchange rates. The Bank enters into currency forward contracts to manage its exposure to
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates for non-USD securities. The Bank also has a structured
management process which entails the following:

i)



Careful monitoring of the international market and taking positions to achieve objectives



Regular reporting to internal management committees and to the Board of Directors

Interest rate risk
The Bank invests in securities and money market instruments and maintains demand deposit
accounts as a part of its normal course of business. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that
the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk is the risk of loss arising
from changes in prevailing interest rates. The Bank manages this risk by monitoring interest
rates daily, and seeks to minimize the exposure by devising a comprehensive risk assessment
and tolerance strategy known as “Customised benchmarking”. The effect of this tool is to reflect
the risk tolerance level of the Bank and to measure the performance of portfolio managers. The
table below analyses the effective interest rates for each class of financial asset and financial
liability:
2019
%

2018
%

2.24
1.86

1.29
1.54

Domestic Assets
Balances with local banks
Due from local banks
Term deposits
Participating governments’ securities
Participating governments’ advances

0.00
6.50
2.50
4.54
6.50

0.00
6.50
2.50
4.54
6.50

Liabilities
Term deposits, call accounts and government operating
accounts
Demand and deposit liabilities - foreign

1.89
1.93

0.98
1.05

Foreign Assets
Money market instruments and money at call
Foreign investment securities
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Financial risk management…continued
d) Market risk...continued
i)

Interest rate risk…continued
As the Bank’s investments in foreign securities are locked in at fixed interest rates, the exposure to cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
is limited to investments in money market instruments and money at call for which rates vary with market movements. As at 31 March 2019,
if interest rates were to move by 25 basis points, profit for the year would have been $4.86M (2018: $3.77M) lower or higher.

The table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank’s financial instruments, categorised by the earlier
of contractual repricing or maturity dates.
1 to 3
3 months to
Non-Interest
Up to 1 month
months
1 year
1 to 5 years
Over 5 years
bearing
Total
As of 31 March 2019
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
Financial assets
Balances with other central banks
14,237,270
14,237,270
Balances with foreign banks
52,946
52,946
Money market instruments and
money at call
1,448,725,411 105,890,702
388,029,281
- 1,942,645,394
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
91,502
4,211
95,713
Foreign investment securities
35,420,445 82,183,086
486,816,833 1,764,478,803
416,695,304
78,205 2,785,672,676
Balances with local banks
2,691,622
2,691,622
Term deposits - domestic
351,854
568,494
5,618,664
6,539,012
Participating governments’
securities
6,762,905
31,639,124
21,766,810
60,168,839
Participating governments’
advances
15,102,644
28,493,557
43,596,201
Accounts receivable
16,186
32,715
132,224
218,037
23,052
6,788,181
7,210,395
Domestic investment securities
624,186
624,186
1,502,399,664 188,679,208

915,853,464
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
d)Market risk…continued
i)

Interest rate risk…continued

As of 31 March 2019
Financial liabilities
Demand and deposit liabilities domestic
Demand and deposit liabilities foreign
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
IMF Government general resource
accounts

Total interest repricing gap, 31
March 2019

Up to 1
month
$

1 to 3
months
$

3months
to 1 year
$

1 to 5 years
$

Over 5 years
$

243,343,044

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

40,689,413
33,769

40,689,413
33,769

-

-

-

-

-

1,198,864

1,198,864

243,343,044

-

-

-

-

4,627,479,878

4,870,822,922

188,679,208 915,853,464

1,796,335,964

438,485,166

1,259,056,620
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$
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$
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
d)

Market risk…continued

i)

Interest rate risk…continued

As of 31 March 2018
Financial assets
Balances with other central banks
Balances with foreign banks
Money market instruments and
money at call
Financial assets held for trading
Available-for-sale - foreign
investment securities
Balances with local banks
Term deposits - domestic
Loans and receivables participating governments’
securities
Loans and receivables participating governments’ advances
Accounts receivable
Available-for-sale - domestic
investment securities

Up to 1 month
$

1 to 3
months
$

3 months to
1 year
$

Over 5 years
$

Non-Interest
bearing
$

Total
$

-

-

-

-

-

6,223,088
64,548

6,223,088
64,548

748,046,508 346,606,717
656,871
-

414,191,605
-

-

-

-

1,508,844,830
656,871

40,752,540 267,561,670
3,221,502
816,878
1,541,490

345,458,136
5,390,060

1,992,315,309
-

511,579,744
-

-

3,157,667,399
3,221,502
7,748,428

1 to 5 years
$

5,280,307

10,799,938

8,003,172

30,569,192

28,537,319

-

83,189,928

22,493,593
15,391

31,124

20,836,778
140,057

278,409

30,111

12,353,578

43,330,371
12,848,670

-

-

-

-

-

624,186

624,186

821,283,590 626,540,939

794,019,808

540,147,174

19,265,400

4,824,419,821
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
d)

Market risk…continued

i)

Interest rate risk…continued

As of 31 March 2018
Financial liabilities
Demand and deposit liabilities domestic
Demand and deposit liabilities foreign
Financial liabilities held for trading
IMF Government general resource
accounts

Total interest repricing gap, 31
March 2018

Up to 1
month
$

1 to 3
months
$

3months
to 1 year
$

1 to 5 years
$

Over 5 years
$

154,889,244

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,425,453
219,130

10,425,453
219,130

-

-

-

-

-

1,162,925

1,162,925

154,889,244

-

-

-

-

4,718,217,514

4,873,106,758

626,540,939 794,019,808

2,023,162,910

540,147,174

666,394,346
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bearing
$

Total
$

4,706,410,006 4,861,299,250

(4,698,952,114)
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3.

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
e)

Currency risk
The Bank takes on exposure to fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its
financial position and cash flows. Management seeks to manage this risk by setting limits on the
level of exposure by currency, which are monitored daily.
Foreign investment securities
The Bank’s investment guidelines require that all non-US dollar securities be hedged back to the
US dollar. As of 31 March 2019, the non-US securities in the foreign securities portfolio was nil.
As of 31 March 2018, the foreign securities portfolio included Euro securities of $84.3M. The
investment managers have entered into forward contracts to sell the non-USD positions forward on
a periodic rolling basis. All gains and losses arising from currency revaluation of these assets and
the forward contracts are reported in the statement of profit or loss as they occur.
Regional and foreign currencies
The Bank facilitates the repatriation of foreign currency notes collected by member banks during
their normal course of operations. The notes are purchased from the commercial banks and shipped
to Bank of America on a monthly basis. To manage the foreign currency risk of holding these notes,
the Bank forward sells these notes on the same day of purchase for value on the date that the
counterparty receives them.
The Bank’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is limited to the minimum balances held on non-USD
demand accounts and investment in non-USD foreign securities. As at 31 March 2019, if exchange
rates were to move by 5 per cent, profit for the year would have been $0.02M (2018: $0.02M) lower
or higher and the net statement of financial position balance would have been nil (2018: $4.2M)
lower or higher.
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
e)

Currency risk…continued
The table below analyses assets and liabilities of the Bank into the respective currency positions as of 31 March 2019:

Financial assets
Balances with other central banks
Balances with foreign banks
Money market instruments and money at call
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Foreign investment securities
Balances with local banks
Term deposits – domestic
Participating governments’ securities
Participating governments’ advances
Accounts receivable
Domestic investment securities

Eastern
Caribbean United States
Dollar
Dollar
$
$

British
Pound
$

Euro
$

13,733,746
52,946
- 1,942,644,911
- 2,785,672,676
2,691,622
6,539,012
60,168,839
43,596,201
7,210,395
624,186
120,830,255 4,742,104,279

403,034
27,633
430,667

56,855
56,855

100,490
14,237,270
52,946
483 1,942,645,394
11,225
95,713
- 2,785,672,676
2,691,622
6,539,012
60,168,839
43,596,201
7,210,395
624,186
112,198 4,863,534,254

20,311
20,311

6,055
6,055

19,932
19,932

- 4,828,900,876
40,689,413
1,198,864
7,782
33,769
7,782 4,870,822,922

(4,749,938,587) 4,742,083,968

424,612

36,923

Financial liabilities
Demand and deposit liabilities – domestic
4,828,900,876
Demand and deposit liabilities – foreign
40,669,102
IMF government general resource accounts
1,198,864
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
4,870,768,842
Net assets (liabilities)
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Other
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$
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
e)

Currency risk…continued

The table below analyses assets and liabilities of the Bank into the respective currency positions as of 31 March 2018:
Eastern
Caribbean United States
British
Dollar
Dollar
Pound
Euro
$
$
$
$
Financial assets
Balances with other central banks
5,890,906
227,742
Balances with foreign banks
64,548
Money market instruments and money at call
- 1,508,844,306
Financial assets held for trading
333
656,538
Available-for-sale – foreign investment securities
- 3,073,401,604
84,265,795
Balances with local banks
3,221,502
Term deposits – domestic
7,748,428
Loans and receivables – participating governments’
securities
83,189,928
Loans and receivables – participating governments’
advances
43,330,371
Accounts receivable
12,848,670
Available-for-sale – domestic investment securities
624,186
150,963,085 4,588,201,364
228,075
84,922,333
Financial liabilities
Demand and deposit liabilities – domestic
4,861,299,250
Demand and deposit liabilities – foreign
9,823,772
601,681
IMF government general resource accounts
1,162,925
Financial liabilities held for trading
45
54,664
146,784
4,872,285,947
601,726
54,664
146,784
Net assets (liabilities)

(4,721,322,862) 4,587,599,638
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173,411

84,775,549

Other
$

Total
$

104,440
6,223,088
64,548
524 1,508,844,830
656,871
- 3,157,667,399
3,221,502
7,748,428
-

83,189,928

43,330,371
12,848,670
624,186
104,964 4,824,419,821
- 4,861,299,250
10,425,453
1,162,925
17,637
219,130
17,637 4,873,106,758
87,327

(48,686,937)

Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2019
For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3.

Financial risk management…continued
f)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to provide adequate liquidity support for the financial
system to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due and
to replace funds when they are withdrawn. It also refers to the risk of financial loss associated with
the conversion of assets to cash to meet financial obligations. This would result in the Bank’s failure
to maintain monetary and financial stability. The Bank is exposed to daily calls on its available cash
resources from overnight deposits, current accounts and maturing deposits. Liquidity is a key
criterion in determining the composition of the Bank’s foreign reserves portfolio. The liquidity
tranche is closely monitored in accordance with a cash flow management policy. Additionally, there
is consistent monitoring and checking for compliance with approved portfolio diversification, asset
allocation and asset quality.
The liquidity management process forms part of the Bank’s wider mandate for reserve management
and is carried out in accordance with approved guidelines by the Reserve Management Committee
and monitored by management. The liquidity tranche is comprised of highly marketable assets that
can easily be liquidated to meet unexpected demands. The process entails the following:





Daily monitoring of balances on the Bank’s call accounts to ensure that adequate funds are
available to meet current and future requirements.
Projections of cash inflows and outflows based on historical trends.
Laddering of money market instruments in the liquidity tranche to ensure that adequate funds
are available to meet current liquidity needs.
Assets held to manage liquidity risk include balances with other central banks, balances with
foreign banks, money market instruments and money at call, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, foreign investment securities, balances with local banks and due from
local banks. At the reporting date, the Bank held $4,745,395,621 (2018: $4,676,678,238) of
these instruments that are expected to readily generate cash inflows.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing
liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Bank and its exposure
to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.
The table below analyses assets and liabilities of the Bank into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The resulting liquidity
gap does not pose any significant risk to the Bank. Based on the nature of the financial liabilities
which principally comprise of bankers current accounts (note 17) and is categorized in the up to 1month grouping, payouts to commercial banks in the short term are unlikely as these commercial
banks are required to maintain with the Bank a reserve equivalent to 6% of their total deposit
liabilities.
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
f)

Liquidity risk…continued

Maturities of liabilities and assets, 31 March 2019

Up to 1 month
$

1 to 3 months
$

3 months to
1 year
$

1 to 5 years
$

Over 5 years
$

Total
$

Financial Liabilities
Demand and deposit liabilities – domestic
Demand and deposit liabilities – foreign
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
IMF government general resource accounts

4,828,900,876
40,689,413
17,342
1,198,864

16,427
-

-

-

-

4,828,900,876
40,689,413
33,769
1,198,864

4,870,806,495

16,427

-

-

-

4,870,822,922

14,237,270
52,946
1,448,725,411
91,502
35,420,445
2,691,622
351,854
15,102,644
5,301,812
-

105,890,702
4,211
82,183,086
568,494
32,715
-

388,029,281
486,895,038 1,764,478,803
5,618,664
6,762,905
31,639,124
28,493,557
132,224
264,396
-

416,695,304
21,766,810
1,479,248
624,186

14,237,270
52,946
1,942,645,394
95,713
2,785,672,676
2,691,622
6,539,012
60,168,839
43,596,201
7,210,395
624,186

1,521,975,506

188,679,208

915,931,669

1,796,382,323

440,565,548

4,863,534,254

(3,348,830,989)

188,662,781

915,931,669

1,796,382,323

440,565,548

(7,288,668)

Financial Assets
Balances with other central banks
Balances with foreign banks
Money market instruments and money at call
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Foreign investment securities
Balances with local banks
Term deposits – domestic
Participating governments’ securities
Participating governments’ advances
Accounts receivable
Domestic investment securities

Net liquidity gap, 31 March 2019
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)LQDQFLDOULVNPDQDJHPHQW…continued
I
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3.

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
f)

Liquidity risk…continued
Derivative cash flows
The following table shows the derivative financial instruments (forward contracts) that will be settled
on a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of
financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

At 31 March 2019
Derivatives held for trading (forward contracts)

Foreign exchange derivatives
- Outflow
- Inflow

0-3
months

3-6
months

Total

(5,711,262)
15,871,379

-

(5,711,262)
15,871,379

0-3
months

3-6
months

Total

(53,997,190)
45,277,428

-

(53,997,190)
45,277,428

At 31 March 2018
Derivatives held for trading (forward contracts)

Foreign exchange derivatives
- Outflow
- Inflow
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Financial risk management…continued

g) Fair value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date (an exit price). The fair value of a
liability must take account of non-performance risk, including the entity’s own credit risk.
Determination of Fair Value
The following methods and assumptions have been used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial
instrument for which it is practical to estimate a value:


Short-term financial assets and liabilities: The carrying value of these financial assets and
liabilities is a reasonable estimate of their fair value because of the short maturity of these
instruments. Short-term financial assets are comprised of regional and foreign currencies,
balances with other central banks, balances with foreign banks, money market instruments and
money at call, treasury bills, balances with local banks, due from participating governments,
interest receivable, and accounts receivable. Short-term financial liabilities are comprised of
demand and deposit liabilities – domestic and foreign, interest payable and certain other
liabilities.



Long-term loans and receivables: The estimated fair value of long-term loans and receivables
is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing market interest rates for debts with similar
credit risk and remaining terms to maturity. Some of the financial assets included in
participating governments’ securities and accounts receivable are long term.
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

Financial risk management…continued
g)

Fair value….continued

(i) Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not presented in the Bank’s statement of financial
position at their fair value:
Carrying value
2019
2018
$
$

Financial assets
Balances with other central banks
Balances with foreign banks
Money market instruments and money at call
Balances with local banks
Term deposits – domestic
Participating governments’ securities
Participating governments’ advances
Accounts receivable
Financial liabilities
Demand and deposit liabilities – domestic
Demand and deposit liabilities – foreign
IMF government general resource accounts

Fair value
2019
$

2018
$

14,237,270
52,946
893,319,859
2,691,622
6,539,012
60,168,839
43,596,201
7,210,395

6,223,088
64,548
171,360,122
3,221,502
7,748,428
83,189,928
43,330,371
12,848,670

14,237,270
52,946
893,319,859
2,691,622
6,539,012
60,168,839
43,596,201
7,210,395

6,223,088
64,548
171,360,122
3,221,502
7,748,428
83,189,928
43,330,371
12,848,670

1,027,816,144

327,986,657

1,027,816,144

327,986,657

4,828,900,876
40,689,413
1,198,864

4,861,299,250
10,425,453
1,162,925

4,828,900,876
40,689,413
1,198,864

4,861,299,250
10,425,453
1,162,925

4,870,789,153

4,872,887,628

4,870,789,153

4,872,887,628

-

-

2,000,000

4,874,845

Off-balance sheet financial instruments
Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange Limited undertaking
and guarantee
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

J  )DLUYDOXH…continued

)DLU9DOXH+LHUDUFK\
,)56VSHFLILHVDKLHUDUFK\RIYDOXDWLRQWHFKQLTXHVEDVHGRQZKHWKHUWKHLQSXWVWRWKRVHYDOXDWLRQ
WHFKQLTXHV DUH REVHUYDEOH RU XQREVHUYDEOH  2EVHUYDEOH LQSXWV UHIOHFW PDUNHW GDWD REWDLQHG IURP
LQGHSHQGHQWVRXUFHVXQREVHUYDEOHLQSXWVUHIOHFWWKH%DQN¶VPDUNHWDVVXPSWLRQV7KHVHWZRW\SHV
RILQSXWVKDYHFUHDWHGWKHIROORZLQJIDLUYDOXHKLHUDUFK\

 /HYHO4XRWHGSULFHVLQDFWLYHPDUNHWVIRULGHQWLFDODVVHWVDQGOLDELOLWLHV
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Financial risk management…continued
g)

Fair value…continued
Fair Value Hierarchy…continued
The following table presents the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair
value at 31 March 2018:

Financial assets
Commercial paper
Certificate of deposits
Term deposits
Financial assets held for trading
Available-for-sale – foreign investment securities
Available-for-sale – domestic investment securities

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading
h)

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

544,740,740
289,060,688
501,282,000
3,157,667,399
-

656,871
-

3,339,782
624,186

4,492,750,827

656,871

3,963,968

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

-

219,130

-

Capital risk management
The Bank’s objectives when managing capital are:
 Safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern
 Manage and safeguard the value of the Eastern Caribbean currency
 Maintain a strong capital base to support its developmental activities
The Bank manages capital through the maintenance of a general reserve according to prescribed
guidelines as mandated in the ECCB Agreement Act 1983 (note 2t). As at 31 March 2019, the
general reserve was $155,929,693 (2018: $$120,456,442).

i) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss in both financial and non-financial terms arising
from a wide variety of causes associated with the Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and
infrastructure. It may also arise from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks
such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of
corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Bank’s operations and are faced by all
departments.
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Financial risk management…continued
i) Operational risk…continued
Managing operational risk in the Bank is seen as an integral part of day-to-day operations and
management, which includes explicit consideration of both the opportunities and the risks of all
business activities. The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance an avoidance
of financial losses and damage to the Bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid
control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational
risk is assigned to the management team of each department. This responsibility is supported by
bank-wide corporate policies which describe the standard of conduct required of staff and specific
internal control systems designed around the particular characteristics of various Bank activities.
Compliance with corporate policies and departmental control systems are managed by:
-

Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation
of transactions;
Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
Documentation of controls and procedures;
Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of the
controls and procedures to assess the risks identified;
Development and periodic testing of contingency plans;
Training and professional development;
Ethical and business standards;
Risk mitigation, including insurance where it is effective;
Weekly reporting to the senior management/risk management committee;
Quarterly management affirmation by each department’s surveillance officer that corporate
policies and departmental internal control systems have been complied with; and
A structured induction program for new employees.

Compliance with the Bank’s Standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews
undertaken by the Internal Audit Department. The results of the reviews are discussed with the
management of the department to which they relate and summaries are submitted to the Board
Audit and Risk Committee and Executive Committee of the Bank.
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Financial risk management…continued
j)

Strategic Risk
The Bank has finalized its strategic plan which was launched in October 2017 to guide its operation
over the period 2017-2021. This plan is hinged on four (4) basic pillars which reflect the purpose of
the Bank, namely:
a.
b.
c.
d.

Financial sector stability and development;
Fiscal and debt sustainability;
Growth, competitiveness and employment; and
Organizational effectiveness.

It is recognised that effective delivery of the strategic initiatives as contained in the plan is heavily
dependent on the supporting policies and operations which have attendant risks. These risks may be
influenced by a wide range of internal and external factors, including an inappropriate use of
resources or a fundamental change in the circumstances on which the assumptions were predicated.
The Bank has therefore identified specific monitoring frameworks and reporting lines to minimize
any negative impact of a perceived or actual failure to deliver on its strategic objectives.
4.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Bank’s financial statements and its financial results are influenced by accounting policies,
assumptions, estimates and management judgement, which have to be made in the course of preparation
of the financial statements. All estimates and assumptions required are in conformity with IFRS and are
best estimates undertaken in accordance with the applicable standard.
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Bank’s accounting policies. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
Estimated pension obligation
The present value of the retirement benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined
on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the
carrying amount of the pension asset.
The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. The
Bank determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should
be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be required to settle the
pension obligations. The Bank considers the interest rates of high-quality instruments, normally longterm government bonds that are denominated in Eastern Caribbean currency which is the currency in
which the benefits will be paid and that have terms of maturity approximating the terms of the related
pension liability. Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based on current market conditions.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements….continued
Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance
The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost
and FVOCI requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic
conditions and credit behaviour. Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used
in measuring ECL is detailed in note 2.
A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for
measuring ECL, such as:






The Bank’s criteria for determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk to
determine whether impairment allowances for financial assets should be measured on a lifetime
expected losses basis;
Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;
Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios
for each type of product or market and the associated ECL;
Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL; and
Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as
unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less
cost of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length for
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental cost of disposing of the asset. The value in use
calculation is based on a discounted cash flow (DCF) model. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the
discount rate used for DCF model as well as the future cash inflows.
Fair value of financial instruments
For financial instruments, where recorded current market transactions or observable market data are not
available at fair value using valuation techniques, fair value is determined using a valuation model that
has been tested against prices or inputs to actual market transactions and using the Bank’s best estimates
of the most appropriate model assumptions.
Revaluation of land and buildings
The Bank measures its land and buildings at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being recognised
in other comprehensive income. The Bank utilises independent valuation specialists to determine fair
value of its land and buildings. The valuer uses judgment in the application of valuation techniques.
Valuations are determined through the application of different valuation methods which are all sensitive
to the underlying assumptions chosen.
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Money market instruments and money at call….continued
Money market instruments maturing after ninety days:
Commercial paper
Term deposits
Certificate of deposits

Interest receivable

Total money market instruments and money at call

2019
$

2018
$

289,789,611
81,000,000
16,294,490

196,345,255
216,420,243

387,084,101

412,765,498

3,619,527

2,401,280

1,942,645,394

1,508,844,830

Money market instruments include commercial paper purchased at discounts, term deposits and certificate
of deposits with interest rates ranging from 0.00% to 2.80% (2018: 0.00% to 2.27%).
Money at call includes cash balances available to the Bank’s money managers and funds held at the United
States Federal Reserve Bank for the day to day operations of the Bank. These balances earned interest at
rates ranging from 0.00 % to 2.5% (2018: 0.00 % to 0.18%) during the year.
7.

Term deposits

2019
$

2018
$

6,467,655
-

6,327,488
1,316,636

6,467,655

7,644,124

71,357

104,304

Total term deposits

6,539,012

7,748,428

Current

6,539,012

7,748,428

Fixed Deposits:
- Bank of Nova Scotia, St. Kitts
- CIBC First Caribbean International Bank, St. Kitts

Interest receivable

The deposits held with Bank of Nova Scotia, St. Kitts (BNS) and CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank
– St. Kitts (CIBC/FCIB) are not available for use in the Bank’s day-to-day operations. These balances
are pledged as liquidity support for loans and advances issued by BNS and CIBC/FCIB to the Bank’s
employees, at rates that are relatively low in comparison to the normal market rates in the ECCU. These
term deposits earned interest at rates of 2.5% (2018: 2.5%) per annum during the year.
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Financial instruments
a) Classification of financial assets and liabilities
IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments, impairment of financial
assets and hedge accounting.
The Bank’s adoption of IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ from 1 April 2018 resulted in changes in
accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The new
accounting policies are set out in note 2(g) above.
On 1 April 2018 (the date of initial application of IFRS 9), the Bank’s management has assessed which
business models apply to the financial assets held by the Bank and has classified its financial instruments
into the appropriate IFRS 9 classification and measurement categories.
(i) Financial assets measured at FVOCI
Foreign reserves assets
As at 1 April 2018, the Bank has assessed its liquidity and core foreign reserves portfolios, which had
previously been classified as available-for-sale instruments and amortised cost under IAS 39.
Money market instruments
Money market instruments consists of commercial paper, certificate of deposits held in the Bank’s foreign
reserves core portfolio. Money market instruments also includes term deposits, which are held in the
liquidity portfolio. The Bank has assessed its business model at the portfolio level as described in note 2
(g) (iii). As of 1 April 2018, the Bank concluded the following:


Money market instruments held in the liquidity portfolio are managed within a business model as
held to collect the contractual cash flows and meet the SPPI criteria.



Money market instruments held in the core foreign reserves portfolio are managed within a
business model of collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets and meet the
SPPI criteria.

Investment securities other than equity instruments
Foreign investment instruments are managed within a business model of collecting contractual cash flows
and selling the financial assets and meet the SPPI criteria. Accordingly, these investments are classified
and measured at FVOCI.
Equity investment instruments
The Bank has elected to irrevocably designate equity investment securities as fair value through other
comprehensive income as permitted under IFRS 9. These securities were previously classified as available
for sale under IAS 39.
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Financial instruments.…continued
a) Classification of financial assets and liabilities….continued
(ii) Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Money market instruments
As of 1 April 2018, the Bank concluded that money market instruments (term deposits) held in the
liquidity portfolio are managed within a business model of held to collect the contractual cash flows and
meet the SPPI criteria.
Domestic financial assets
Following the assessment, the Bank concluded that the financial assets in the domestic portfolio are
managed within a business model to collect contractual cash flows and meet the SPPI criteria.
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D  &ODVVLILFDWLRQRIILQDQFLDODVVHWVDQGOLDELOLWLHV….continued

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

7KHIROORZLQJWDEOHSURYLGHVDUHFRQFLOLDWLRQEHWZHHQOLQHLWHPLQWKHVWDWHPHQWRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQDQG
FDWHJRULHVRIILQDQFLDOLQVWUXPHQWVXQGHU,)56

Financial assets

Mandatorily at Designated at
FVTPL
FVTPL

FVOCI - debt FVOCI - equity
instruments
instruments

Amortised cost

Total carrying
amount

Regional and foreign currencies

-

-

-

-

104,789,886

104,789,886

Balances with other central banks

-

-

-

-

14,237,270

14,237,270

Balances with foreign banks

-

-

-

-

52,946

52,946

Money market instruments and money at call

-

-

-

1,292,885,974

1,942,645,394

Financial Assets held for trading

95,713

-

649,759,420
-

-

95,713

-

2,785,672,676

Foreign investment securities

-

-

Cash and balances with local banks

-

-

-

-

2,691,622

2,691,622

Term Deposits

-

-

-

-

6,539,012

6,539,012

Domestic investment securities

-

-

-

Participating governments securities

-

-

-

-

60,168,839

60,168,839

Participating governments advances

-

-

-

-

43,596,201

43,596,201

Accounts receivable

-

-

-

-

7,210,395

7,210,395

702,391 1,532,172,145

4,968,324,140

Total Financial Assets

95,713

-

2,785,594,471

3,435,353,891

78,205

-

624,186

-

624,186

Demand Liabilities - domestic

-

-

-

-

4,828,900,876

4,828,900,876

Demand Liabilities - foreign

-

-

-

-

40,689,413

40,689,413

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Financial Liabilities held for trading
IMF government general resource accounts
Total Financial Liabilities

33,769

33,769

1,198,864

4,870,789,153

33,769
1,198,864

4,870,822,922
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Financial instruments...continued
c)

Credit quality of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired are assessed using external
credit ratings.
Investment securities
Foreign investment securities held by the Bank are debt of governments with a country rating of Aa
or better (by Moody’s or equivalent), or debt that carries the unconditional guarantee of
such governments, and included in the list of acceptable sovereign risks and debt of international
institutions that are specifically listed in the Bank’s Investment Guidelines. These securities are of
superior credit quality and protection of interest and principal is considered high.
Money market instruments and money at call
Cash at banks and money market instruments are held at approved financial institutions which have
a minimum bank deposit rating of A1/P-1 Moody’s or as measured by another international rating
agency. These financial institutions must be incorporated in one of the approved countries listed in
the Bank’s Investment Guidelines.
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable include amounts that are past due and for which the Bank has recognised a
specific allowance for doubtful receivables after the assessment.
The Bank does not have any other financial assets that are past due or impaired.
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Investment securities…continued
Allowance for impairment losses on investment securities at FVOCI…continued
The following table shows the allowance for impairment losses on investment securities measured at
FVOCI:
2019

2018

Lifetime ECL not
Credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL
creditimpaired

Total

Total

470,930

-

-

470,930

-

Decrease in loss allowance
recognised in profit or loss
during the year

(131,800)

-

-

(131,800)

-

Balance at 31 March 2019

339,130

-

-

339,130

-

12-month
ECL
Debt securities at FVOCI
(2018: available-for-sale)
Balance at 1 April 2018

Available-for-sale investment securities
Domestic securities
Equity securities
Caribbean Information and Credit Rating Agency Services Ltd.
156,180 (2018: 156,180) ordinary shares of $2.70 each - unquoted,
at cost
Eastern Caribbean Automated Clearing House Services Inc.
(2018: 20,500) ordinary shares of $10.00 each - unquoted, at cost
Foreign securities
Debt securities
- quoted, at fair value

2019
$

2018
$

421,686
-

202,500
624,186

- 3,144,942,775

Interest receivable

-

Total foreign securities

- 3,157,667,399

Total investment securities

- 3,158,291,585

Current
Non-current

653,772,346
- 2,504,519,239

12,724,624

- 3,158,291,585
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 ,QYHVWPHQWVHFXULWLHV…continued

7KHPRYHPHQWLQLQYHVWPHQWVHFXULWLHVPD\EHVXPPDULVHGDVIROORZV

)RUHLJQ
'RPHVWLF
,QYHVWPHQW
6HFXULWLHV
6HFXULWLHV






%DODQFHDVRI0DUFK


$GGLWLRQV


 
'LVSRVDOV VDOHDQGUHGHPSWLRQ 

   
1HWJDLQVWUDQVIHUWRHTXLW\

1HWORVVWUDQVIHUIURPHTXLW\




%DODQFHDVRI0DUFK


$GGLWLRQV


'LVSRVDOV VDOHDQGUHGHPSWLRQ 
 


1HWJDLQVWUDQVIHUWRHTXLW\

1HWORVVWUDQVIHUIURPHTXLW\



%DODQFHDVRI0DUFK




7KH%DQNWUDQVIHUUHGORVVHVRI ORVVHVRI IURPHTXLW\LQWRWKHVWDWHPHQW
RISURILWRUORVV

*DLQVOHVVORVVHVIURPLQYHVWPHQWVHFXULWLHVFRPSULVH





 
1HWUHDOLVHGORVVHVIURPGLVSRVDORIIRUHLJQLQYHVWPHQWVHFXULWLHV
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NOTES TO
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019
Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars


 3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶VHFXULWLHV

3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWVHFXULWLHVPHDVXUHGDWDPRUWLVHGFRVW

D  3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶VHFXULWLHV'HEHQWXUHV


1RPLQDO $PRUWLVHG
1RPLQDO $PRUWLVHG
FRVW
YDOXH
FRVW
YDOXH










*RYHUQPHQWRI$QWLJXDDQG
%DUEXGD

'HEHQWXUHVPDWXULQJ







'HEHQWXUHPDWXULQJ

   






   


,QWHUHVWUHFHLYDEOH







7RWDOSDUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶

VHFXULWLHV'HEHQWXUHVJURVV
   


/HVVDOORZDQFHIRULPSDLUPHQW



ORVVHV


7RWDOSDUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶

VHFXULWLHV'HEHQWXUHVQHW
   


7KH*RYHUQPHQWRI$QWLJXDDQG%DUEXGD\HDU7UHDVXU\ERQGPDWXULQJLQDURVHDVDUHVXOW
RIWKHOLTXLGLW\VXSSRUWH[WHQGHGWR%DQNRI$QWLJXD/LPLWHGXQGHUHPHUJHQF\SRZHUVH[HUFLVHGE\WKH
(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQ&HQWUDO%DQNRQ)HEUXDU\
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 3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶VHFXULWLHV...continued

E  3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶VHFXULWLHV7UHDVXU\ELOOV

1RPLQDO $PRUWLVHG
1RPLQDO $PRUWLVHG
YDOXH
FRVW
YDOXH
FRVW





 




7UHDVXU\ELOOV*RYHUQPHQWRI$QWLJXDDQG
%DUEXGDWUHDVXU\ELOOPDWXULQJ
 
 



  
 


,QWHUHVWUHFHLYDEOH
   



7RWDOSDUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶
    
VHFXULWLHVWUHDVXU\ELOOV


7RWDOSDUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶
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&XUUHQW
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Eastern Caribbean Central Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31NOTES
March TO
2019

(Expressed in
dollars)
Expressed
inEastern
EasternCaribbean
Caribbean
Dollars

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

10. Participating governments’ securities...continued
The movement in participating governments’ securities may be summarized as follows:

Balance as of 31 March 2017
Additions
Payment of principal

Debentures
$
71,651,039
(6,179,137)

Treasury Bills
$
15,912,960
-

Total
$
71,651,039
15,912,960
(6,179,137)

Balance as of 31 March 2018
Additions
Payment of principal

65,471,902
(6,365,392)

15,912,960
(15,912,960)

81,384,862
(22,278,352)

Balance as of 31 March 2019

59,106,510

-

59,106,510

11. Participating governments’ advances
Participating government advances measured at amortised cost
Operating accounts:
- Government of Anguilla
- Government of St. Vincent and the Grenadines
- Government of Dominica
- Government of Grenada
Interest receivable
Total operating accounts
Temporary advances
- Government of St. Vincent and the Grenadines
- Government of Antigua and Barbuda
Interest receivable
Total temporary advances
Less: allowance for impairment losses

2019
$

2018
$

5,995,994
8,963,770
2,078,849
14,959,764
2,078,849
142,880
15,102,644

14,724,971
6,014,404
1,586,116
3,497,929
22,325,491
3,497,929
168,102
22,493,593

16,000,830
12,600,000
28,600,830

20,719,108
20,719,108

9,581

117,670

28,610,411

20,836,778

(116,854)

Total due from participating governments’ advances

43,596,201

43,330,371

Current

43,596,201

43,330,371

Amounts due from participating governments for temporary advances and operating account overdraft
balances are unsecured and usually accrue interest at 6.50% per annum.
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Caribbean
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For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

12. Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses
2019
$

2018
$

Accounts receivable
Staff mortgage loans
Prepaid expenses

7,991,277
422,214
14,405,230
22,818,721

13,533,556
495,092
12,084,499
26,113,147

Less: Allowance for impairment on receivables

(1,203,095)

(1,179,978)

21,615,626

24,933,169

12,669,300

12,669,300

8,946,326

12,263,869

21,615,626

24,933,169

Current
Non-current

Staff mortgage loans accrue interest at a rate of 4% per annum and are secured by real estate property
with variable repayment terms. As the loans are granted at a preferential interest rate, this has given rise
to a short-term employee benefit asset in the amount of $93,176 (2018: $134,018) at the statement of
financial position date. This amount is included in prepaid expenses.
The Bank’s receivables have been assessed for indicators of impairment as required by IFRS 9. The Bank
applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for receivables. The Bank has assessed receivables for impairment at the
individual asset level. The Bank wrote off receivables either partially or in full and any related allowance
for impairment losses when there was no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Bank, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than
120 days past due. Write-offs are charged against previously established allowances for impairment losses
and reduce the amount of the receivable.
Allowance for impairment on accounts receivable
The movement in allowance for impairment on accounts receivable is as follows:
2019
$

2018
$

1,179,978
(13,138)
1,473,678
(1,437,423)

1,255,109
(75,131)
-

1,203,095

1,179,978

Balance, beginning of year
Amounts recovered during the year
Allowance during the year
Amounts written off during the year
Balance at end of year
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13. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The Bank’s derivatives relate to currency forwards. Currency forwards represent commitments to
purchase foreign currency and are initially recognised at fair value on the date that a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value.
The following is an analysis of the currency forwards held with positive fair value as at 31 March 2019:
Currency sold
/purchased
CAD
EUR
GBP

Notional Notional value of
value of
contracts
contracts
EC$ equivalent
667,320
1,353,866
3,076,900
9,389,984
1,441,700
5,127,528

Value date of contracts
8 April, 2019
9 April, 2019
8 April, 6 May, 2019

15,871,378

Fair value of
contracts
$
11,225
56,854
27,634
95,713

The following is an analysis of the currency forwards held with positive fair value as at 31 March 2018
Currency sold
/purchased
GBP
EUR

Notional Notional value of
value of
contracts
contracts
EC$ equivalent
129,700
493,243
13,213,200
44,784,185

Value date of contracts
16 April, 2018
16 April/24 May, 2018

Fair value of
contracts
$
333
656,538

45,277,428

656,871

Current

656,871
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14. Investments in associated undertakings using the equity method
Article 42 (1) of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank Agreement Act 1983 empowers the Bank, with the
approval of the Monetary Council, to administer or participate in corporations or schemes established
for the purpose of promoting the development of money, capital or securities markets in the territories
of participating governments.
Article 42 (2) of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank Agreement Act 1983 authorises the Bank, with the
approval of the Monetary Council, to subscribe to hold and sell shares of a corporation organised with
the approval or under the authority of the participating governments for any of the purposes specified in
Article 42 (1). The following are institutions which were established under Article 42 (1):
Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage Bank (ECHMB)
The Bank holds 24.8% (2018: 24.8%) of the share capital of the ECHMB – 25,000 Class “A” shares at
a cost of $100 each and 41,812 Class “A” shares at a cost of $160 each. The Company was established
as a vehicle to foster the development of the money market and secondary market for mortgages in the
territories of the participating governments of the ECCB Agreement Act 1983.
Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange (ECSE)
The Bank holds 32.74% (2018: 30.8%) of the share capital of the ECSE – 300,000 Class “A” shares at
a cost of $10 each. The ECSE was established to enhance and increase investment opportunities, and to
foster the development of a securities market in the territories of participating governments of the ECCB
Agreement Act 1983. The Eastern Caribbean Central Securities Depository Limited (ECCSD) and
Eastern Caribbean Central Securities Registry Limited (ECCSR) are both wholly owned subsidiaries of
the ECSE.
Organisation of Eastern Caribbean States Distribution and Transportation Company (ODTC)
The Bank holds 20% of the share capital of the ODTC – 2,001 Class “A” shares at a cost of $10 each.
The Company was established as a vehicle to foster the development of the distribution and
transportation sector in the territories of the participating governments of the ECCB Agreement Act
1983. The company has not commenced operations as of 31 March 2019.
The Bank’s investments in associates are detailed below:

2019
$

Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage Bank (ECHMB)

2018
$

Balance at beginning of year
Share of profit for the year
Dividend received in year

14,979,466
1,316,862
(501,090)

14,434,138
1,046,418
(501,090)

Balance at end of year

15,795,238

14,979,466

Balance at beginning of year
Additional shares issued to ECCB during the year
Share of profit for the year

2,470,927
274,190
409,024

2,078,843
392,084

Balance at end of year

3,154,141

2,470,927

Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange (ECSE)
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14. Investments in associated undertakings using the equity method…continued
2019
$

2018
$

OECS Distribution and Transportation Company (ODTC)
Balance at beginning of year
Purchase during the year

20,010
-

20,010
-

Balance at end of year

20,010

20,010

Total investments in associated undertakings

18,969,389

17,470,403

Non-current

18,969,389

17,470,403

The total share of profit of associates recognised in the statement of profit or loss was $1,725,886
(2018: $1,438,502).
The Bank’s interest in its principal associates, both of which are unlisted, is as follows as of 31 March
2019:

Entity
ECHMB
ECSE

Assets
$

Liabilities
$

Revenues
$

Profit
$

% Interest
held
%

265,802,954

(206,630,675)

13,262,909

5,309,928

24.80

44,380,095

(33,696,381)

4,569,453

1,331,298

32.74

The Bank’s interest in its principal associates, both of which are unlisted, is as follows as of 31 March
2018:
% Interest
Assets
Liabilities
Revenues
Profit
held
Entity
$
$
$
$
%
ECHMB

261,901,804

(200,543,933)

11,708,543

4,215,836

24.80

ECSE

101,015,275

(91,662,859)

4,593,521

1,236,730

30.80

The Bank’s interest has been determined on the basis of the unaudited financial statements for these
entities as the timing for receipt of the audited financial statements is after the scheduled date for
finalization of the ECCB’s accounts. The 2018 comparatives represent audited financial results for these
entities, which were not materially different to the unaudited amounts used in the preparation of the
Bank’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018.

EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019 | 145

(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQ&HQWUDO%DQN

1RWHVWRWKH)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
)RUWKH\HDUHQGHG0DUFK

([SUHVVHGLQ(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQGROODUV
Expressed
in Eastern Caribbean Dollars 


 ,QWDQJLEOHDVVHWV

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019
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%DODQFHDW$SULO
$GGLWLRQV
$PRUWLVDWLRQZULWHEDFN

%DODQFHDW0DUFK

%DODQFHDW$SULO
$GGLWLRQV

%DODQFHDW0DUFK

$FFXPXODWHGDPRUWLVDWLRQ
%DODQFHDW$SULO
$PRUWLVDWLRQ
$PRUWLVDWLRQZULWHEDFN

%DODQFHDW0DUFK

%DODQFHDW$SULO
$PRUWLVDWLRQ

%DODQFHDW0DUFK

1HWERRNYDOXH
$W0DUFK




&RPSXWHUVRIWZDUH




 











 











$W0DUFK



$W0DUFK
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$FFXPXODWHGGHSUHFLDWLRQ
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'HSUHFLDWLRQFKDUJH
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17. Demand and deposit liabilities - domestic
2019
$

2018
$

Banker's balances - Current accounts
Currency in circulation
Bankers Collateral account
Participating governments’ call accounts
Participating governments’ operating accounts
Participating governments’ fixed deposit accounts
Bankers’ dormant accounts
Participating governments’ fiscal reserve tranche II
Eastern Caribbean Securities Registry
Eastern Caribbean Asset Management Corporation
Participating governments’ sinking fund call accounts
Organisation of Eastern Caribbean States operating accounts
Participating governments’ drug service accounts
BAICO Recapitalisation Holding Account
Government of Antigua & Barbuda Recovery &
Reconstruction Project
Participating governments’ fiscal tranche I call accounts
Accounts payable, accruals and provisions
ECHMB Operating accounts
Eastern Caribbean Partial Credit Guarantee Corporation
Government of Antigua and Barbuda Road Infrastructure
British American Liquidity Support
Bankers’ call accounts
British Caribbean Currency Board Coins in Circulation
Commemorative coins in circulation
British Caribbean Currency Board Residual Fund
Resolution Trust Corporation
Participating governments’ debt restructuring escrow accounts
Eastern Caribbean Automated Clearing House
Statutory and legislative bodies’ operating accounts
Local governments’ operating accounts
OECS Distribution and Transportation
CANEC Debt Management Advisory Services

2,910,948,594
1,140,799,340
217,770,179
131,994,046
86,654,669
81,000,000
79,542,063
55,539,085
16,149,162
14,437,800
12,201,056
11,383,580
8,776,592
8,243,848

2,969,688,317
1,108,060,590
234,653,977
130,222,853
57,609,555
66,921,621
64,241,922
76,673,421
9,937,800
15,595,139
230,956
6,100,623
8,243,848

7,835,463
6,998,496
6,802,188
6,440,613
5,400,000
4,912,142
4,502,360
4,036,502
2,566,022
1,379,972
833,628
446,802
291,718
206,144
67,132
46,968
22,380
-

7,768,087
6,869,358
7,842,484
17,809
5,400,000
11,248,780
5,165,684
1,882,505
2,566,026
1,379,972
833,628
1,566,541
59,635,812
177,680
73,147
46,564
22,380
320,591

Demand and deposit liabilities – domestic
Interest Payable

4,828,228,544
672,332

4,860,997,670
301,580

Total demand and deposit liabilities - domestic

4,828,900,876

4,861,299,250

Current

4,828,900,876

4,861,299,250

150 | EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019
96

(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQ&HQWUDO%DQN

1RWHVWRWKH)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
)RUWKH\HDUHQGHG0DUFK

([SUHVVHGLQ(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQGROODUV
Expressed
in Eastern Caribbean Dollars 


 'HPDQGDQGGHSRVLWOLDELOLWLHVGRPHVWLF…continued

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

'XULQJ WKH\HDU WKH IROORZLQJ EDODQFHV HDUQHG LQWHUHVW DW UDWHV UDQJLQJ IURP  WR  
WR SHUDQQXPILVFDOWUDQFKH,EDQNHUV¶FDOODFFRXQWVDQGIL[HGGHSRVLWVSDUWLFLSDWLQJ
JRYHUQPHQWVDQGVWDWXWRU\ERGLHV¶IL[HGGHSRVLWVDQG(&+0%RSHUDWLQJDFFRXQWV

3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶ILVFDOUHVHUYHWUDQFKH,,
7KH0RQHWDU\&RXQFLOKDVDSSURYHGWKHHVWDEOLVKPHQWRIDILVFDOUHVHUYHIXQG,QDFFRUGDQFHZLWKWKH
%DQN¶V SURILW GLVWULEXWLRQ SROLF\ IRUW\ SHU FHQW   RI WKH DQQXDO VKDUH RI GLVWULEXWDEOH SURILWV WR
PHPEHUJRYHUQPHQWVLVWUDQVIHUUHGWRWKHSDUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶ILVFDOWUDQFKH,,FDOODFFRXQW7KHUH
ZDVQRDOORFDWLRQIURPSURILWWRWKHIXQGLQWKHFXUUHQWILQDQFLDO\HDU 1LO 



 

 

  
 
 
 
 













 




 

 
 











 

 




 



%DODQFHDWEHJLQQLQJRI\HDU
&RQWULEXWLRQWR(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQ$VVHW
0DQDJHPHQW&RUSRUDWLRQ

/RDQUHSD\PHQWVGXULQJWKH\HDU

+XUULFDQH5HOLHI*UDQWV



%DODQFHDWHQGRI\HDU



3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶ILVFDOWUDQFKH,FDOODFFRXQWV

7KHVHDFFRXQWVHDUQLQWHUHVWDWWKHSUHYDLOLQJFDOOUDWHRIIHUHGE\WKH%DQNDQGDUHUHDGLO\DFFHVVLEOHE\
WKHUHVSHFWLYHJRYHUQPHQWV7KHUHZDVQRDOORFDWLRQIURPSURILWWRWKHIXQGLQWKHFXUUHQWILQDQFLDO\HDU
1LO 


%DODQFHDWEHJLQQLQJRI\HDU
,QWHUHVWRQDFFRXQW
7UDQVIHUV

%DODQFHDWHQGRI\HDU
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 'HPDQGDQGGHSRVLWOLDELOLWLHVIRUHLJQ 


2WKHUUHJLRQDOFHQWUDOEDQNVDQGDJHQF\DFFRXQWV
,QWHUQDWLRQDO%DQNIRU5HFRQVWUXFWLRQDQG'HYHORSPHQWDFFRXQWV
&DULEEHDQ'HYHORSPHQW%DQNDFFRXQWV
&DULEEHDQ)LQDQFLDO6HUYLFHV&RUSRUDWLRQDFFRXQW
7RWDOGHPDQGDQGGHSRVLWOLDELOLWLHVIRUHLJQ

For the Year Ended 31 March 2019

 












 
 
 
 








 




&XUUHQW

 

7KHVHEDODQFHVHDUQHGLQWHUHVWDWUDWHVUDQJLQJIURPWR WR SHUDQQXP
GXULQJWKH\HDU


 ,0)JRYHUQPHQWJHQHUDOUHVRXUFHDFFRXQWV
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$QWLJXD %DUEXGD
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6W.LWWVDQG1HYLV
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20. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit of loss
The following is an analysis of the currency forwards held with negative fair value as of 31 March 2019:
Currency
sold/
purchased
CAD
EUR
GBP
CHF
KWD

Notional value
Notional value
of contracts
of contracts EC$ equivalent Value date of contracts
550,300
1,022,000
423,700
2,400
3,010

1,100,352
3,085,300
1,491,860
6,420
27,330
5,711,262

Fair value of
contracts
$

8 April & 6 May, 2019
8 April, 2019
8 April, 2019
8 April, 2019
8 April, 2019

7,080
19,932
6,055
91
611
33,769

Current

33,769

The following is an analysis of the currency forwards held with negative fair value as of 31 March 2018:
Currency
sold/
purchased
CAD
EUR
GBP
USD

Notional value
of contracts
718,0000
14,440,000
1,164,900
567

Notional value
of contracts
EC$ equivalent Value date of contracts
1,485,547
48,134,093
4,372,398
5,152
53,997,190

Fair value of
contracts
$

16 April, 2018
16 April & 14 June, 2018
16 April, 2018
3 April, 2018

17,637
146,784
54,664
45
219,130

Current

219,130
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 2WKHUUHVHUYHV


3URSHUW\DQGHTXLSPHQWUHYDOXDWLRQUHVHUYH
8QUHDOLVHGKROGLQJJDLQ ORVV LQYHVWPHQWVHFXULWLHV
3HQVLRQUHVHUYH
6HOILQVXUDQFHUHVHUYHIXQG
&DSLWDOUHVHUYH
([SRUW&UHGLW*XDUDQWHHIXQG
8QUHDOLVHGKROGLQJJDLQ±PRQH\PDUNHWLQVWUXPHQWV

7RWDOUHVHUYHV


([SRUW&UHGLW*XDUDQWHHIXQG

















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 







8QGHU $UWLFOH    RI WKH (DVWHUQ &DULEEHDQ &HQWUDO %DQN $JUHHPHQW $FW  WKH %DQN LV
HPSRZHUHGWRDGPLQLVWHURUSDUWLFLSDWHLQDQH[SRUWFUHGLWJXDUDQWHHVFKHPH,QH[HUFLVHRIWKLVSRZHU
WKH%DQNKDVDVVLJQHGWRRQHRILWVGHSDUWPHQWVWKHREMHFWLYHRISURYLGLQJSUHVKLSPHQWH[SRUWFUHGLW
JXDUDQWHHV WR FRPPHUFLDO EDQNV LQ UHVSHFW RI DGYDQFHV PDGH WR H[SRUWHUV IURP WKH 2UJDQLVDWLRQ RI
(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQ6WDWHV

$UWLFOH  RIWKH(DVWHUQ&DULEEHDQ&HQWUDO%DQN$JUHHPHQW$FWSURYLGHVIRUWKH%DQNWRPDNH
GLVFUHWLRQDU\FRQWULEXWLRQVRXWRILWVSURILWVWRZDUGVDJXDUDQWHHIXQGIRUDGPLQLVWHULQJWKH([SRUW&UHGLW
*XDUDQWHH 6FKHPH  7KH %RDUG RI 'LUHFWRUV KDYH DJUHHG WR PDLQWDLQ WKH IXQG DW D PLQLPXP RI


&DSLWDOUHVHUYH
&DSLWDOUHVHUYHLQFOXGHVWKHODQG DFUHV RQZKLFKWKH%DQN¶VKHDGTXDUWHUV SKDVH,DQG,, DUH
FRQVWUXFWHGZKLFKZDVGRQDWHGE\WKH*RYHUQPHQWRI6W.LWWVDQG1HYLV7KHODQGZDVLQGHSHQGHQWO\
YDOXHGDWLQIRUSKDVH,DQGLQIRUSKDVH,,,QWKH*RYHUQPHQWRI
6W.LWWVDQG1HYLVGRQDWHGDQDGGLWLRQDODFUHVWRWKH%DQNZKLFKKDVEHHQLQGHSHQGHQWO\YDOXHG
DW,QWKH*RYHUQPHQWRI6W.LWWVDQG1HYLVGRQDWHGDQDGGLWLRQDODFUHVRIODQGZKLFK
KDVEHHQLQGHSHQGHQWO\YDOXHGDW

6HOILQVXUDQFHUHVHUYH
7KH %RDUG RI 'LUHFWRUV KDYH DJUHHG WR DSSURSULDWH DQQXDOO\ WR WKH 6HOILQVXUDQFH UHVHUYH IURP QHW
LQFRPHVXFKDPRXQWHTXLYDOHQWWRWKHTXRWHGSUHPLXPIURPDQLQVXUDQFHFDUULHUWRFRYHUSRWHQWLDO
FDWDVWURSKHLQUHVSHFWRIWKH%DQN¶VKHDGTXDUWHUVEXLOGLQJVDQGIXOOFRYHUDJHIRUWKHRWKHUSURSHUWLHV,W
DOVRDJUHHGWRDIXQGHGFDSRIRIWKHUHSODFHPHQWYDOXHRIWKHUHOHYDQWEXLOGLQJV GHWHUPLQHGE\
LQGHSHQGHQWYDOXDWLRQ 

3HQVLRQUHVHUYH
7KH%RDUGRI'LUHFWRUV KDYH GHFLGHG WR PDNHDSSURSULDWLRQVDQQXDOO\WRRUIURPQHWLQFRPHIRUWKH
DPRXQWVQHFHVVDU\WRPDLQWDLQDSHQVLRQUHVHUYHHTXLYDOHQWWRWKHSHQVLRQDVVHW
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 2WKHU5HVHUYHV…continued

5HYDOXDWLRQ5HVHUYHLQYHVWPHQWVHFXULWLHV

7KH PRYHPHQWV RI WKH ³5HYDOXDWLRQ 5HVHUYH LQYHVWPHQW VHFXULWLHV´ DV D UHVXOW RI FKDQJHVLQ WKH IDLU
YDOXHVDUHDVIROORZV
)RUHLJQ
0RQH\
LQYHVWPHQW
PDUNHW
VHFXULWLHV LQVWUXPHQWV
7RWDO
 
 





%DODQFHDW0DUFK
  

 
5HYDOXDWLRQRIIRUHLJQVHFXULWLHV
  

 
5HYDOXDWLRQWUDQVIHUWRSURILWRUORVVRQGLVSRVDORI
IRUHLJQVHFXULWLHV









%DODQFHDW0DUFK
  

 
5HYDOXDWLRQRIIRUHLJQVHFXULWLHV
 
 

5HYDOXDWLRQWUDQVIHUWRSURILWRUORVVRQGLVSRVDORI
IRUHLJQVHFXULWLHV
 


,PSDLUPHQWRILQYHVWPHQWVHFXULWLHVDW)92&,




%DODQFHDW0DUFK


 3HQVLRQDVVHW






 





7KH%DQNFRQWULEXWHVWRDGHILQHGSHQVLRQVFKHPHFRYHULQJVXEVWDQWLDOO\DOOIXOOWLPHHPSOR\HHV7KH
DVVHWVRIWKHSODQDUHKHOGVHSDUDWHO\LQDQLQGHSHQGHQWWUXVWHHDGPLQLVWHUHGIXQG7KHSHQVLRQVFKHPH
LVYDOXHGHYHU\WKUHH\HDUVE\DILUPRILQGHSHQGHQWTXDOLILHGDFWXDULHV%DFRQ:RRGURZ GH6RX]D
/LPLWHG±$FWXDULHVDQG&RQVXOWDQWV7KHODWHVWDYDLODEOHIXOOYDOXDWLRQZDVDW0DUFKLWXVHG
WKHSURMHFWHGXQLWFUHGLWPHWKRGDQGVKRZHGWKDWWKHIDLUYDOXHRIWKH)XQG¶VDVVHWVDW0DUFK
UHSUHVHQWHGRIWKHEHQHILWVWKDWKDGDFFUXHGWRPHPEHUVDVDWWKDWGDWH7KHIDLUYDOXHRIWKH
)XQG¶V DVVHWV DW WKDW WLPH ZDV  PLOOLRQ   PLOOLRQ  DQG WKH UHTXLUHG IXWXUH VHUYLFH
FRQWULEXWLRQ UDWH ZDV     RI SHQVLRQDEOH VDODULHV 7KH DFWXDU\ SHUIRUPHG D UROO
IRUZDUGRIWKHYDOXDWLRQWR0DUFK7KHQH[WGHWDLOHGIXOOYDOXDWLRQZLOOEHFRQGXFWHGDVDW
0DUFK
 
 


 


7KHDPRXQWVUHFRJQLVHGLQWKHVWDWHPHQWRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQDUH
DVIROORZV



3UHVHQWYDOXHRISHQVLRQREOLJDWLRQ

 

)DLUYDOXHRISODQDVVHWV
  



3UHVHQWYDOXHRIRYHUIXQGHGVXUSOXV





1HWDVVHWUHFRJQLVHGLQWKHVWDWHPHQWRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQ
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22. Pension asset…continued
Reconciliation of amount reported in the statement of financial
position:
Pension asset, beginning of year
Net pension costs during the year
Re-measurements recognised in other comprehensive income
Contributions to pension scheme
Pension asset, end of year

2019
$
26,948,000
(1,242,000)
(4,354,000)
2,221,000
23,573,000

2018
$
26,510,000
(1,353,000)
(415,000)
2,206,000
26,948,000

Effective April 1, 2007, the Bank adjusted its contribution to the Pension Fund from 16% to 12% to benefit
from the current overfunded position of the pension fund and as prescribed by rule 4(3) of the Pension
Fund Trust Deed and Rules (1992).
2019
$

2018
$

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is
as follows:
Beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions by plan participants
Past service cost
Actuarial loss
Benefits paid

84,416,000
3,031,000
5,785,000
555,000
(2,091,000)
(3,606,000)

79,144,000
3,020,000
5,446,000
551,000
85,000
(889,000)
(2,941,000)

88,090,000

84,416,000

The defined benefit obligation is allocated between the Plan’s
members as follows:

2019
%

2018
%

77.0
0
23

77.0
0
23.0

2019

2018

14.9 years

14.9 years

Active and promoted members
Deferred members
Pensioners
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at
the year end

33% of the benefits for active members are for those over age 55 and are vested.
33% of the defined benefit obligation for active members is conditional on future salary increases.
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22. Pension asset…continued

The movement in the fair value of plan assets over the year
is as follows:
Plan assets at start of year
Interest income
Return on Plan assets, excluding interest income
Employer contributions
Contributions by plan participants
Benefits paid
Expense allowance

The amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss
are as follows:
Current service cost
Net interest on net defined benefit asset
Past service cost
Administration expenses
Total expense included in staff costs (note 28)

2019
$

2018
$

111,364,000
7,760,000
(6,445,000)
2,221,000
555,000
(3,606,000)
(186,000)

105,654,000
7,383,000
(1,304,000)
2,206,000
551,000
(2,941,000)
(185,000)

111,663,000

111,364,000

2019
$

2018
$

3,031,000
(1,975,000)
186,000

3,020,000
(1,937,000)
85,000
185,000

1,242,000

1,353,000

2019
$

2018
$

The amounts recognised in other comprehensive loss were
as follows:
Experience losses

(4,354,000)

(415,000)

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive loss

(4,354,000)

(415,000)
2018
%

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:
Discount rate
Average individual salary increases

7.0
5.0

7.0
5.0
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22. Pension asset…continued
Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published mortality tables. The life expectancies
underlying the value of the defined benefit obligation as at 31 March 2018 are as follows:
Life expectancy at age 60 for current pensioners in years
Male
Female
Life expectancy at age 60 for current members age 40 in years
Male
Female
Plan assets are comprised as follows:

Developed market equities
EC Government issued nominal bonds and treasury bills
USD denominated bonds
USD cash and cash equivalents
Net current assets
Fair value of Plan Assets at end of year

2019

2018

21.0
25.1

21.0
25.1

21.4
25.4

21.4
25.4

2019
$

2018
$

43,933,000
10,709,000
54,162,000
2,356,000
503,000
111,663,000

46,337,000
11,109,000
54,229,000
4,407,000
(4,718,000)
111,364,000

The largest proportion of assets is invested in debt instruments. Overseas equities in developed markets
and USD denominated bonds have quoted prices in active markets. The value of the Eastern Caribbean
government bonds are shown at their par values.
The Plan’s assets are invested based on a strategy agreed with the Plan’s Trustees. There are no assetliability matching strategies used by the Plan.
23. Related party balances and transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. The Bank considers
the participating governments, board of directors and key management personnel as related parties.
Participating Governments
The receivables from and payables to participating governments arise mainly from the Bank carrying out
one of its key roles as banker to participating governments as provided for in part nine (ix) of the ECCB
Agreement Act 1983.
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 5HODWHGSDUW\EDODQFHVDQGWUDQVDFWLRQV«continued

7KH\HDUHQGEDODQFHVDULVLQJIURPWUDQVDFWLQJZLWKSDUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWVDUHDVIROORZV







5HFHLYDEOHVIURPSDUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV




3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶VHFXULWLHV QRWH 
3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶DGYDQFHV QRWH 








3D\DEOHVWRSDUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV QRWH 





 
3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶FDOODFFRXQWV


3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶IL[HGGHSRVLWVDFFRXQWV


3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶ILVFDOUHVHUYHWUDQFKH,,


3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶RSHUDWLQJDFFRXQWV
3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶VLQNLQJIXQGFDOODFFRXQWV




3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶ILVFDOWUDQFKH,FDOODFFRXQWV
3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶GUXJVHUYLFHDFFRXQWV


3DUWLFLSDWLQJJRYHUQPHQWV¶GHEWUHVWUXFWXULQJHVFURZDFFRXQWV



,QWHUHVW LQFRPH HDUQHG RQ UHFHLYDEOHV GXULQJ WKH \HDU ZDV     7KH
UHFHLYDEOHVFDUU\LQWHUHVWUDWHVRIWR WR SHUDQQXP


,QWHUHVWH[SHQVHRQSD\DEOHVGXULQJWKH\HDUZDV  7KHSD\DEOHVFDUU\
LQWHUHVWUDWHVRIWR WR SHUDQQXP

$QXPEHURIWUDQVDFWLRQVZHUHHQWHUHGLQWRZLWKUHODWHGSDUWLHVLQWKHQRUPDOFRXUVHRIEXVLQHVV7KHVH
LQFOXGHORDQVDQGRWKHUWUDQVDFWLRQV7KHYROXPHRIUHODWHGSDUW\WUDQVDFWLRQVDQGRXWVWDQGLQJ
EDODQFHVDWWKH\HDUHQGDUHDVIROORZV









6WDIIPRUWJDJHORDQV
/RDQVRXWVWDQGLQJDWEHJLQQLQJRI\HDU


 
 
/RDQVPRYHPHQWGXULQJWKH\HDU



/RDQVRXWVWDQGLQJDWHQGRI\HDU





7HUPGHSRVLWV


%DQNRI1RYD6FRWLD6W.LWWV


&,%&)LUVW&DULEEHDQ,QWHUQDWLRQDO6W.LWWV









7KHWHUPGHSRVLWEDODQFHUHSUHVHQWVDPRXQWVSOHGJHGDVOLTXLGLW\VXSSRUWIRUORDQVLVVXHGE\6FRWLDEDQN
6W.LWWVDQG&,%&)LUVW&DULEEHDQ,QWHUQDWLRQDO6W.LWWVWR(&&%HOLJLEOHHPSOR\HHV QRWH 
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23. Related party balances and transactions…continued
Interest income earned on loans and advances during the year was $4,098 (2018: $9,893). The loans carry
an interest rate of 4% (2018: 4%) per annum. The repayment terms of the loans vary. The outstanding
loans are primarily for mortgages and are secured by the mortgaged property.
Key management personnel compensation
The salaries, fees and benefits paid to the Board of Directors and key management personnel of the Bank
during the year amounted to $3,663,285 (2018: $3,748,138). The following is an analysis of these
amounts:

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits
Board of Directors’ fees
Post-employment benefits

2019
$
3,259,106
240,000
164,179

2018
$
3,361,638
239,500
147,000

3,663,285

3,748,138

24. Contingencies and commitments
Capital commitments
At 31 March 2019, commitments for capital expenditure was $5,028,860. (2018: $3,145,520).
Credit extension to participating governments
Article 40 (1) of the ECCB Agreement Act 1983 stipulates that “the Bank may, subject to such terms and
conditions as the Board may prescribe, make temporary advances to each Participating Government to
meet its seasonal needs…”. This can take the form of ECCB’s direct investment in government securities,
overdrafts on operating accounts and temporary advances.
The approved credit allocation to participating governments for the current financial year is $561,126,000
(2018: $563,605,000). The details are presented in the table below:

Government of Saint Lucia
Government of St Kitts and Nevis
Government of Antigua and Barbuda
Government of Commonwealth of Dominica
Government of Grenada
Government of St Vincent and the Grenadines
Government of Anguilla
Government of Montserrat

2019
$
120,250,000
96,367,000
90,635,000
81,560,000
76,544,000
67,469,000
22,688,000
5,613,000

2018
$
122,801,000
109,114,000
95,043,000
63,063,000
73,553,000
69,971,000
24,176,000
5,884,000

Total credit allocation

561,126,000

563,605,000
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24. Contingencies and commitments...continued
Credit extension to participating governments...continued
The undrawn commitments to participating governments for the current financial year amounts to
$452,705,000 (2018: $439,070,000). The details are presented in the table below:
2019
$

2018
$

Government of Saint Lucia
Government of St Kitts and Nevis
Government of Commonwealth of Dominica
Government of Grenada
Government of St Vincent and the Grenadines
Government of Anguilla
Government of Antigua and Barbuda
Government of Montserrat

120,250,000
96,367,000
81,560,000
76,544,000
39,984,000
16,965,000
15,422,000
5,613,000

122,801,000
109,114,000
61,477,000
73,553,000
43,237,000
9,451,000
13,553,000
5,884,000

Total undrawn commitments

452,705,000

439,070,000

The Board has approved credit allocation to participating governments for the 2019/20 financial year in
the amount of $581,943,000.
Pending Litigations
There are nine (9) pending legal claims against the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (the “Central Bank”)
for which the likelihood of settlement appears remote.
1) Claim No. GDAHCV2001/0490 initiated by Capital Bank International Limited in 2001 is pending before
the Grenada Supreme Court.
The Claimant is seeking:
(i) A declaration that it is entitled to be admitted to the membership of the Clearing House
facility established by the Central Bank pursuant to the provisions of the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank Act 1983; and
(ii) An order directing the Central Bank to admit the Claimant immediately as a member of the
Clearing House facility operating in Grenada.
At the High Court hearing of the case in September 2008, the court ordered that the trial of the matter
be adjourned to a date to be fixed by the Registrar of the High Court on application by any of the
parties to the matter. The Minister for Finance, in Grenada has since revoked the banking licence
which was granted to Capital Bank International Limited, appointed a Receiver for the Bank and has
also filed a petition before the court for the compulsory liquidation of the Bank.
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24. Contingencies and commitments...continued
Pending litigation….continued
2) Claim No. ANUHCV2015/0518 BETWEEN: Sylvia O’Mard (Claimant/Applicant) and ABI Bank Ltd,
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank and Dwight Venner (the Defendants/Respondents). On September 28,
2015, Ms Sylvia O’Mard (“the Applicant”) filed a fixed date claim against the ABI Bank Ltd, Eastern
Caribbean Central Bank and Dwight Venner (“the Respondents”). The Applicant sought, among other
things:
(i)

A declaration that Article 5C(5)(a) of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank Agreement is
unconstitutional;

(ii)

A declaration that the actions of the Respondents in failing to release funds due to the Applicant
and held at the first-named Respondent amounted to a breach of the Applicant’s constitutional
rights;

(iii)

An order for recovery of all sums demanded by the Applicant;

(iv)

An order for restitution.

By Notice of Application filed on November 18, 2015 the Respondents applied to the Court for an Order
declaring that the Court has no jurisdiction to try the claim as filed. The Court ordered a hearing of the
Notice of Application including arguments in relation to the constitutionality of Article 5C(5)(a) of the
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank Agreement on December 15, 2015. Following the hearing on December
15, 2015, the Court, on December 22, 2015, delivered its decision on the preliminary issue in favour of the
Respondents dismissing the claim of the Applicant.
The Applicant appealed the decision of the High Court. On the hearing before the Court of Appeal on
December 8, 2016, the Court ordered that the matter be remitted to the High Court with directions that
the Attorney General be joined as a party and that a timetable be fixed by the High Court for the
expeditious hearing of the matter. On 8 February 2019, directions were provided by the High Court for
the Attorney General to be joined within fourteen (14) days and to be served with all pleadings. The
matter was adjourned to 22 March 2019 for case management. On 22 March, the matter was further
adjourned to July 2019.
3) Claim No. AXAHCV2016/0051 BETWEEN: SATAY LIMITED et al (Claimants) v MARTIN
DINNING, HUDSON CARR, SHAWN WILLIAMS, ROBERT MILLER AND EASTERN
CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK (Defendants). By claim filed on June 28, 2016 the Claimants claim
against the Defendants for breach of fiduciary duty the sum of US$13,028,906.17.
By Notice of Application dated August 12, 2016, the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 5th Defendants applied to the Court
for a declaration that the Court has no jurisdiction to try the claim as filed. The Defendants’ application
contesting the court’s jurisdiction was heard on October 13, 2016 and the Court gave directions for the
filing of written submissions by both sides. Written submissions were filed by both sides. On February
22, 2017, the Court delivered its decision on the preliminary issue in favour of the Claimants.
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24. Contingencies and commitments...continued
Pending litigation….continued
3) Claim No. AXAHCV2016/0051….continued
The Defendants filed application for leave to appeal that decision which was granted on April 11, 2017.
The Claimants filed an application for extension of time and a counter-appeal. The Defendants filed an
application to strike out the application on the basis that it was filed out of time and without the leave of
the court. The Court ruled that the Claimants’ documents were properly filed at the date of the Order being
July 4, 2017.
The Court, subsequently, issued a Notice of Hearing for July 31, 2017 of the Defendants’ application to
strike out the counter-appeal, which was heard before the full Court of Appeal (CA) on October 23, 2017
in Anguilla. The Defendants’ application was dismissed and costs of EC$5,000.00 were ordered to be
paid by the Defendants.
The substantive appeal was heard the week of 30 April 2018. The Defendants’ appeal was dismissed by
the Court and the defense is due to be filed by 1 May 2019.
4) Case No. 16-01279-MG BETWEEN: NATIONAL BANK OF ANGUILLA (PRIVATE BANKING &
TRUST) LTD (the Plaintiff) v. NATIONAL BANK OF ANGUILLA LTD (NBA), NATIONAL
COMMERCIAL BANK OF ANTIGUA LTD (NCBA) AND EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL
BANK (ECCB) (hereinafter collectively ‘the Defendants’).
The Plaintiff filed complaint on December 16, 2016 before the United States Bankruptcy Court Southern
District of New York against the Defendants alleging breach of fiduciary duty and gross negligence and
seeking judgment to, inter alia:
(a) avoid transfers of net new money in the amount of US$9.15m to NBA and other transfers to the
NCBA and ECCB as actual or constructively fraudulent transfers;
(b) recover the value of avoidable transfers from the Defendants;
(c) avoid and recover NBA’s transfers of its funds and assets to NCBA and net payment of
US$13,837,233.30 to ECCB; and
(d) damages for breach of fiduciary duty and gross negligence by the ECCB.
On February 27, 2017 the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank filed a motion to dismiss on the basis of lack
of subject matter jurisdiction, personal jurisdiction and forum non conveniens. On March 20, 2017 the
Plaintiff filed an amended complaint. On April 27, 2017, the ECCB filed an amended motion to dismiss
on the basis of lack of subject matter jurisdiction, personal jurisdiction and forum non conveniens.
The Court ordered that this matter and the matter listed at (6) below be heard jointly. The cases were heard
on October 26, 2017 and on January 29, 2018 the Court ruled that both proceedings should be stayed
pending the outcome of the litigation in Anguilla.
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24. Contingencies and commitments...continued
Pending litigation….continued
5) Claim No. AXA/HCV2017/0017 BETWEEN: NATIONAL BANK OF ANGUILLA (PRIVATE
BANKING & TRUST) (in administration); Caribbean Commercial Investment Bank Ltd (in
administration) (Intended Applicants) and Chief Minister of Anguilla; Attorney General of Anguilla; Gary
Moving (as Receiver of the National Bank of Anguilla and Caribbean Commercial Bank); Eastern
Caribbean Central Bank (Intended Respondents).
The Intended Applicants have filed application for leave to apply for judicial review of various "decisions"
made by the Intended Respondents concerning the implementation of the resolution strategy in respect of
National Bank of Anguilla (NBA) and Caribbean Commercial Bank (CCB) including the appointment of
the Receiver and the Receiver's actions including his transfer of certain assets and liabilities of NBA and
CCB to National Commercial Bank of Anguilla. The application is scheduled to be heard on May 18,
2017.
Subsequently, the Intended Applicants filed an application for a stay of the application for leave to apply
for judicial review referenced above until the conclusion of the US proceedings referenced in (5) and (7).
On June 14, 2017 the matter was heard by the Court and the stay was granted pending final determination
of US matters listed in (4) and (6).
6) Case No. 17-01058 (SMB) BETWEEN: CARIBBEAN COMMERCIAL INVESTMENT BANK LTD.
(“CCIB”) (the Plaintiff) v CARIBBEAN COMMERCIAL BANK (CCB), NATIONAL COMMERCIAL
BANK OF ANGUILLA (NCBA) and THE EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK (the
Defendants).
The Complaint was filed May 1, 2017 before the United States Bankruptcy Court Southern District of New
York against the Defendants alleging breach of fiduciary duty and gross negligence and seeking judgment,
inter alia:
(a) Avoiding transfer of funds to CCB in the amount of at least US$4,481,394.62;
(b) for recovery of transfers to NCBA in an amount of not less than US$2,248,628.46 million;
(c) for recovery of transfers to ECCB of an amount
(i) not less than US$28,673,612.01 during the two years prior to the Petition Date
(ii) up to US$67,198,261.96 during the three years prior to the Petition Date
(iii) up to US$70,023,261.96 during the Conservatorship Period
(iv) up to US$87,933,896.76 during the six years prior to the Petition Date; and
(d) for damages for breach of fiduciary duty and gross negligence by the ECCB.
The Court ordered that this matter and the matter listed at (5) above be heard jointly. The cases were heard
on October 26, 2017 and on January 29, 2018 the Court ruled that both proceedings should be stayed
pending the outcome of the litigation in Anguilla.
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24. Contingencies and commitments...continued
Pending litigation….continued
7) Case No. NEVHCV2-17/0124 BETWEEN: KEVIN HUGGINS (The Intended Applicant) v
EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK (The Intended Respondent).

THE

On September 15, 2017, the Intended Applicant sought leave to file a Judicial Review Claim against the
Intended Respondent to quash the purported decision of the Intended Respondent in relation to his fitness
to serve on the Board of Directors of Bank of Nevis. The Intended Respondent filed submissions opposing
the application. The matter was heard on December 10, 2017 and the court granted the Intended Applicant
leave to apply for judicial review. The Applicant filed claim for judicial review on 8 November 2018 and
the ECCB filed its response on 11 December 2018. The first hearing is scheduled for 14 May 2019.
8) Claim No. 56 of 2018 BETWEEN: FIRST ST VINCENT BANK LIMITED (Applicant) v EASTERN
CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK (Respondent).
On April 9, 2018, the Applicant filed application for leave to apply for judicial review of the ‘decision’ of
the Respondent imposing penalties of $34.7 million for ‘alleged’ breaches of the Banking Act of St Vincent
of the Grenadines. The matter was heard on 19 July 2018 and a decision was granted in favour of the
ECCB dismissing the Application. On 17 October 2018, the Applicant filed notice of appeal of the High
Court’s decision.
No income has been recorded pending the outcome of the claim.
9) Claim No. AXA/HCV 2016/0032 BETWEEN: NATIONAL BANK OF ANGUILLA (PRIVATE
BANKING & TRUST) LTD (in administration), CARIBBEAN COMMERCIAL INVESTMENT BANK
LTD. (in administration) (the Claimants) v. NATIONAL BANK OF ANGUILLA LTD (in receivership),
CARIBBEAN COMMERCIAL BANK (in receivership), NATIONAL COMMERCIAL BANK OF
ANGUILLA LTD (NCBA), EASTERN CARIBBEAN CENTRAL BANK (ECCB), MARTIN DINNING,
HUDSON CARR, SHAWN WILLIAMS and ROBERT MILLER (hereinafter collectively ‘the
Defendants’).
An amended claim filed by the Claimants on 28 August 2018 against the Defendants (and served on the
Central Bank on 7 February 2019) seeks inter alia:
(a) a declaration of breach of fiduciary duty owed to the Claimants by 5th, 6th, 7th and 8th Defendants;
(b) a declaration that certain sums are held by the Defendants on trust for the Claimants;
(c) an order of account and inquiry of such sums in the possession of the Defendants;
(d) an order that the Defendants transfer to the Claimants any sums in the possession of the Defendant
identified as part of the account and inquiry;
(e) compensation for breaches of fiduciary duty by 5th, 6th, 7th and 8th Defendants.
The defence is due to be filed by 15 May 2019.
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24. Contingencies and commitments...continued
Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange Limited
During the year, the Bank has given the following undertaking and guarantee in respect of the Eastern
Caribbean Securities Exchange Limited (“ECSE”), a public limited company registered under the Laws
of St. Christopher and Nevis:
-

An undertaking to postpone all claims in respect of present and future funds advanced to the Eastern
Caribbean Securities Exchange Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary companies by the Bank up
to the year ending 31 March 2019. At the year end, the balance was nil (2018: $2,874,845). The last
advance was during the financial year ended 31 March 2005.

-

Guarantee cover in the event of a budgeted shortfall in respect of the ECSE and its wholly-owned
subsidiary companies for the fiscal year ending 31 March 2019 in an amount not expected to exceed
$2,000,000 (2018: $2,000,000).

The above undertaking and guarantee will be reviewed on 31 March 2020 and are irrevocable before this
date.
Contractual obligation
The Bank contracted the services of De La Rue (DLR) Cash Systems Inc. to supply onsite labour
equipment maintenance and corrective equipment maintenance to keep the CPS 1200 System in good
working order or to restore it to good working order as necessary. The total contract is US$600,000 and
extends for a period of 120 months effective March 2008. The contract expired in February 2018. The
Bank entered into a new contractual arrangement for an additional two years commencing from March,
2018. As at 31 March 2019, the commitment of the Bank was US$76,442 (2018: $90,340).
Leasehold obligation – operating leases
All agency offices operate out of leased premises with lease terms ranging from 1 to 5 years. Lease rentals
payable on operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the term of the leases.
Minimum lease payments subsequent to 2019 and in aggregate are as follows:

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments
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2019
$
994,745
591,100
209,280
95,400
-

2018
$
904,745
397,500
232,268
235,350
60,000
770,000

1,890,525

2,599,863
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31. Transition to IFRS 9
The following table summarises the impact of adopting IFRS 9 on the Bank’s statement of financial
position as at 1 April 2018.
IAS 39
IFRS 9
IAS 39
IFRS 9
Measurement Measurement Carrying amount
Reclassification
Catetory
Category at 31 March 2018

IFRS 9
Remeasurement
including ECL

IFRS 9 Carrying
amount at
1 April 2018

Regional and foreign currencies

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

68,773,676

-

-

68,773,676

Balances with other central banks

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

6,223,088

-

-

6,223,088

Balances with foreign banks

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

64,548

-

-

64,548

Money market instruments and money at call

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

673,187,314

-

-

673,187,314

Money market instruments

AFS (FVOCI)

FVOCI

835,657,516

-

Financial Assets held for trading
Available-for-sale foreign investment
securities - AFS
To foreign investment securities - FVOCI

FVTPL

FVTPL

656,871

-

AFS (FVOCI)

FVOCI

3,157,667,399

FVOCI

4,742,230,412
-

-

Foreign investment securities - FVOCI
From AFS foreign investment securities

-

835,657,516
-

656,871

3,157,667,399

(470,930)

3,157,667,399
(3,157,667,399)
1,584,563,013
3,157,196,469

3,157,667,399

(470,930)

3,157,196,469

(3,157,667,399)
(3,157,667,399)

-

Cash and Balances with Local Banks

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

3,221,502

-

-

3,221,502

Term Deposits

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

7,748,428

-

-

7,748,428

Domestic investment securities - AFS

AFS (Cost)

FVOCI

624,186

-

-

624,186

-

(624,186)

To domestic investment securities - FVOCI

(624,186)
624,186

Domestic investment securities - FVOCI

AFS (Cost)

FVOCI

-

From domestic investment securities - AFS

(624,186)

-

-

-

624,186

-

624,186

-

624,186
624,186

-

Participating governments securities

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

83,189,928

-

(173,190)

83,016,738

Participating governments advances

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

43,330,371

-

(54,580)

43,275,791

Accounts receivable

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

12,848,670

-

4,893,193,497

-

Total Financial Assets

(698,700)

12,848,670
4,892,494,797

Liabilities
Demand Liabilities - Domestic

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

4,861,299,250

-

-

4,861,299,250

Demand Liabilities - Foreign

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

10,425,453

-

-

10,425,453

Financial Liabilities held for trading

FVTPL

FVTPL

219,130

-

-

219,130

1,162,925

-

-

1,162,925

4,873,106,758

-

-

4,873,106,758

IMF Government General Resource Accounts Amortised Cost
Total Financial Liabilities

Amortised Cost

The adoption of IFRS 9 had no impact on the Bank’s financial liabilities.
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31. Transition to IFRS 9….continued
The impact of transition to IFRS 9 on reserves at 1 April 2018 is as follows:

General and other
reserves
FVOCI reserve
Closing balance under IAS 39 (31 March 2018)

(45,288,213)

Recognition of ECL under IFRS 9 for investment securities at FVOCI

470,930

Opening balance under IFRS 9 (1 April 2018)

(44,817,283)

General reserve
Closing balance under IAS 39 (31 March 2018)

120,456,442

Recognition of IFRS 9 ECLs on FVOCI and amortised cost

(698,700)

Opening balance under IFRS 9 (1 April 2018)

119,757,742
(227,770)

Total change in equity due to adoption of IFRS 9

The following table reconciles the prior year’s closing impairment allowance measured in accordance with
IAS 39’s incurred loss model to the new impairment allowance measured in accordance with IFRS 9’s
expected credit loss model at 1 April 2018:
Impairment loss
under IAS 39
31 March 2018 Reclassification Remeasurement

Measurement category

ECL under
IFRS 9
1 April 2018

Available for sale financial assets under IAS 39/ financial
assets at FVOCI under IFRS 9
Foreign investment securities

-

-

470,930

470,930

-

-

470,930

470,930

-

-

227,770

227,770

Loans and receivables under IAS 39/ financial assets at
amortised cost under IFRS 9
Domestic debt securities
Accounts receivable

Total loss allowance

1,179,978

-

-

1,179,978

1,179,978

-

227,770

1,407,748

1,179,978

-

698,700

1,878,678
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32. Events after the reporting period
In April 2019, the Bank arrived at an Agreement with the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange
regarding a long outstanding receivable that was more than 365 days past due. Given the default rate on
this receivable, the Bank took the decision to write-off 50 per cent of the receivable, which amounted to
$1.47m. The ECSE agreed to issue additional ordinary shares together with redeemable cumulative
preference shares to the ECCB to discharge of the remaining balance due to the ECCB.
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LIST OF COMMERCIAL BANKS MAINTAINING
CLEARING ACCOUNTS WITH THE ECCB
As at 31 March 2019

MONTSERRAT

ANGUILLA
National Commercial Bank of Anguilla Ltd
Scotiabank Anguilla Limited

Bank of Montserrat Limited
RBC Royal Bank of Canada

ANTIGUA AND BARBUDA

ST KITTS AND NEVIS

Antigua Commercial Bank
Caribbean Union Bank Ltd
CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank (Barbados) Limited
Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank
RBC Royal Bank of Canada
The Bank of Nova Scotia

Bank of Nevis Limited
CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank (Barbados) Limited
RBC Royal Bank of Canada
RBTT Bank (SKN) Limited
St Kitts-Nevis-Anguilla National Bank Limited
The Bank of Nova Scotia

COMMONWEALTH OF DOMINICA

SAINT LUCIA

CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank (Barbados) Limited
National Bank of Dominica Ltd
RBC Royal Bank of Canada
The Bank of Nova Scotia

GRENADA
CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank (Barbados) Limited
Grenada Co-operative Bank Ltd
RBTT Bank Grenada Limited
Republic Bank (Grenada) Limited
The Bank of Nova Scotia

1st National Bank St Lucia Ltd
Bank of Saint Lucia Ltd
CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank (Barbados) Limited
RBC Royal Bank of Canada
The Bank of Nova Scotia

ST VINCENT AND THE GRENADINES
Bank of St Vincent and the Grenadines Ltd
CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank (Barbados) Limited
RBTT Bank Caribbean Limited
The Bank of Nova Scotia
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